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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PB&J Family Services, Inc. (a 
nonprofit organization), and affiliate (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional 
expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Organization and affiliate as of June 30, 2024, and 2023, and the changes in their 
net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are 
available to be issued. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
combined financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 18, 
2025, on our consideration of the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.  

           
TKM, LLC 

Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 
 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
September 18, 2025
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

JUNE 30, 
 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

4 
 

ASSETS 2024 2023
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Without Donor Restrictions 2,302,864$        606,157$           
With Donor Restrictions 239,492             72,770               

Accounts Receivable 546,669             430,368             
Other Receivables 3,548                 3,548                 

Prepaid Expenses 69,735               44,293               

Total Current Assets 3,162,308          1,157,136          

Noncurrent Assets: 
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Donor Restricted) 40,004               37,390               
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Board Designated) 93,343               87,243               
Other Investments, Net 1,000                 1,000                 
Property and Equipment, Net 301,600             152,514             

Right-to-Use Asset, Finance Lease 27,225               38,490               

Total Noncurrent Assets 463,172             316,637             

Total Assets 3,625,480$        1,473,773$        

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 88,856$             97,584$             
Accrued Expenses 212,875             190,435             

Finance Lease Liability, Current 11,907               10,567               

Total Current Liabilities 313,638             298,586             

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Finance Lease Liability, Noncurrent 19,499               31,406               

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 19,499               31,406               

Total Liabilities 333,137             329,992             

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions:

Undesignated 2,919,504          946,378             
Board Designated - Permanent Endowment 93,343               87,243               

With Donor Restrictions 279,496             110,160             

Total Net Assets 3,292,343          1,143,781          

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,625,480$        1,473,773$        
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 4,537,567$         -$                  4,537,567$    
Contributions 2,188,235           259,795        2,448,030      
Noncash Exchange of Services 235,324              -                    235,324         
Gain (Loss) on Investment (1,702)                2,614            912                
Miscellaneous Income 7,119                  -                    7,119             

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 6,966,543           262,409        7,228,952      

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 93,073                (93,073)         -                     

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 7,059,616           169,336        7,228,952      

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,715,276           -                    2,715,276      
Home-Based 1,075,163           -                    1,075,163      
ImPACT 744,374              -                    744,374         

Total Program Services 4,534,812           -                    4,534,812      

Support Services

Property Management 1,257                  -                    1,257             
Management and General 519,076              -                    519,076         
Fundraising 25,245                -                    25,245           

Total Support Services 545,578              -                    545,578         

Total Expenses 5,080,390           -                    5,080,390      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 1,979,226           169,336        2,148,562      
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,033,621           110,160        1,143,781      

Net Assets, End of Year 3,012,847$         279,496$      3,292,343$     
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 3,666,847$         -$                  3,666,847$    
Contributions 274,101              25,092          299,193         
Noncash Exchange of Services 231,411              -                    231,411         
Gain (Loss) on Investment (1,032)                2,266            1,234             
Miscellaneous Income 30,553                -                    30,553           

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,201,880           27,358          4,229,238      

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 21,645                (21,645)         -                     

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,223,525           5,713            4,229,238      

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,803,895           -                    2,803,895      
Home-Based 980,086              -                    980,086         
ImPACT 498,288              -                    498,288         

Total Program Services 4,282,269           -                    4,282,269      

Support Services

Property Management 1,257                  -                    1,257             
Management and General 538,054              -                    538,054         
Fundraising 97,895                -                    97,895           

Total Support Services 637,206              -                    637,206         

Total Expenses 4,919,475           -                    4,919,475      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (695,950)            5,713            (690,237)        
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,729,571           104,447        1,834,018      
Net Assets, End of Year 1,033,621$         110,160$      1,143,781$    
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management 
and General  Fundraising  Total 

Expenses

Salaries 1,768,418$          712,041$             492,119$          -$                           131,580$             1,555$              3,105,713$      
Payroll Taxes 155,305                93,780                  54,414              -                             -                             -                          303,498            

Employee Benefits 168,369                59,433                  41,920              -                             17,378                  -                          287,100            

Total Personnel 2,092,092            865,254                588,453            -                             148,958                1,555                 3,696,311         

In-kind Rent 183,509                15,943                  15,943              -                             19,929                  -                          235,324            
Building and Occupancy 115,261                47,385                  6,181                 -                             34,784                  -                          203,611            
Supplies 124,992                22,183                  29,371              -                             3,855                    767                    181,168            
Administrative & Support Fee -                             -                             -                          -                             227,645                -                          227,645            
Family Support 9,827                    43,408                  33,478              -                             4,044                    -                          90,757              
Professional Services 5,672                    -                             12,183              -                             60,028                  3,990                 81,873              
Travel 51,641                  33,680                  32,234              -                             553                        60                      118,168            
Miscellaneous 3,797                    2,913                    6,048                 -                             6,431                    -                          19,189              
Insurance 50,149                  20,569                  2,869                 -                             1,146                    -                          74,733              
Repairs and Maintenance 15,852                  25                          -                          -                             4,721                    -                          20,598              
Education and Training 3,686                    9,646                    3,033                 -                             2,498                    -                          18,863              
Printing and Publishing 8,447                    2,606                    1,994                 -                             391                        -                          13,438              
Subscriptions and Publications 2,435                    10,682                  9,573                 -                             1,674                    18,873              43,237              
Equipment Rental 3,440                    48                          43                      -                             1,922                    -                          5,453                 
Postage and Shipping 2,533                    821                        586                    -                             497                        -                          4,437                 

Total Other Expenses 581,241                209,909                153,536            -                             370,118                23,690              1,338,494         

Depreciation and Amortization 41,943                  -                             2,385                 1,257                    -                             -                          45,585              
Interest -                             -                             -                          -                             -                             -                          -                          

Total Expenses 2,715,276$          1,075,163$          744,374$          1,257$                  519,076$             25,245$            5,080,390$      

Program Services Support Services
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management 
and General  Fundraising  Total 

Expenses

Salaries 1,845,242$   632,545$   349,203$    -$  270,031$   22,822$   3,119,843$   
Payroll Taxes 148,604  83,292  37,482  - 33,632 2,638  305,648  
Employee Benefits 143,688  57,086  24,525  - 20,501 600  246,400  

Total Personnel 2,137,534  772,923   411,210  - 324,164 26,060  3,671,891  

192,696  21,973  16,742  -  -  -  231,411  
145,663  37,167  13,049  - 119,387 - 315,266 
127,620  25,550  8,962  - 6,646 2,011  170,789 

13,405  33,693  18,060  - - -  65,158  
17,825  888  135  - 44,498 4,638  67,984  
45,946  20,857  18,638  - 503                        22  85,966  

7,312  30,107  3,523  - 12,013 30,935  83,890  
48,767  14,988  2,593  - 6,747 - 73,095 
13,843  - 126 - 4,245 - 18,214 

6,896  19,282  2,222 -  868  495  29,763 
5,280  1,217  -   -  1,228  - 7,725 

874  159  478  - 14,125 31,545  47,181 
2,327  -  -   -  1,914  - 4,241 

In-kind Rent
Building and Occupancy 
Supplies
Family Support
Professional Services
Travel
Miscellaneous
Insurance
Repairs and Maintenance 
Education and Training 
Printing and Publication 
Subscriptions and Publications 
Equipment Rental
Postage and Shipping 1,489  382  165  -  807  2,189  5,032 

Total Other Expenses 629,943  206,263   84,693  - 212,981 71,835  1,205,715  

Depreciation and Amortization 32,513  - 2,385 1,257  -  -  36,155  
Interest 3,905  900  -   -  909  - 5,714 

Total Expenses 2,803,895$   980,086$   498,288$    1,257$   538,054$   97,895$   4,919,475$   

Program Services Support Services
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2024 2023

Cash Flow From Operating Activities 
Cash Received From Grants and Contracts 4,421,266$          3,582,524$          
Cash Received From Contributions 2,448,030           299,193              
Cash Received From Other Sources 7,119                  30,553                
Cash Paid to Employees and Suppliers (4,811,211)          (4,593,291)          
Interest Paid -                         (5,714)                 

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 2,065,204           (686,735)             

Cash Flow From Investing Activities 
Purchase of Equipment (187,790)             37,763                
Purchase of Endowment Investments 69,352                (12,542)               
Sale of Endowment Investments -                         23                      

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities (118,438)             25,244                

Cash Flow From Financing Activities 
Finance Lease Payments (10,567)               (9,378)                 

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities (10,567)               (9,378)                 

Net Increase (Decrease) - Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,936,199           (670,869)             

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 606,157              1,349,796           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 2,542,356           678,927              

Less: Donor Restrictions (239,492)             (72,770)               

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 2,302,864$          606,157$            

                                                  
Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Net Cash:

Change in Net Assets 2,148,562$          (690,237)$           
Depreciation and Amortization 45,585                36,155                
Net Realized / Unrealized Gains / Losses on Investments (912)                   (1,234)                 

Change in:
Accounts Receivable (116,301)             (83,349)               
Other Receivables -                         (974)                   
Prepaid Expenses (25,442)               9,472                  
Accounts Payable (8,728)                 27,644                
Accrued Expenses 22,440                15,788                

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 2,065,204$          (686,735)$           
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024, AND 2023 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Organization & Nature of Operations 
 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. (PB&J) was established in 1972 in Albuquerque, NM as a non-profit 
organization focused on helping to create a community of happy and healthy families. The 
organization continues its mission of child abuse prevention through parent education and case 
management services. PB&J continues to innovate and meet the needs of the community that it 
serves through comprehensive programs and services. The following programs and services 
are representative of the work done at PB&J. 
 

Preschool - Center based programs such as NM Pre-K, Children’s Support Group, 
and Parenting Program are delivered at the offices of PB&J. These programs serve 
children and families with education meant to develop new skills for a brighter future. 
 
ImPACT - PB&J delivers services to incarcerated parents and youth through 
programs such as Juvenile Community Corrections and the Metro Detention Center 
program. These programs are intended to reach an underserved population with 
education, life skills, case management, and resource referrals. 
 
Home-Based - PB&J offers home based programs such as Home Visiting, Family 
Infant Toddler Program, and Community Based Prevention, Intervention, and 
Reunification. The home-based programs at PB&J are meant to decrease barriers for 
families and deliver services in the family familiar environment. These programs offer 
parent education, case management, child development, and resource referrals to 
the families that they serve. 

 
Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the Corporation) is a New Mexico not-for-profit 
corporation established in 1994. The Corporation was established to provide management of 
property specially designed for use by client families services to meet their physical, social 
emotional and psychological needs, and to promote their health, security, happiness and 
usefulness. The Corporation is an affiliate of PB&J.  
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
PB&J is financially interrelated through control and economic interest to another not-for-profit 
organization, Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the “Corporation”). Generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America require the financial statements 
of PB&J and the Corporation to be consolidated (the “Organization”). All significant inter-
organization accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting and accordingly reflect all significant receivables, payables, and other 
liabilities. 
 
Financial Statement Presentation 
 
Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of 
donor or grantor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are 
classified and reported as follows: 
 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-
imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary 
objectives of the Organization. The Organization’s Board of Directors may designate 
assets without assets without restrictions for specific operational purposes from time 
to time. The net assets without donor restrictions represent the investment in 
undesignated assets, investment in designated assets, and amounts invested in 
property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
related debt. 
 
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those 
that will be met by the passages of time or other events specified by the donor. Other 
donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that 
resources be maintained in perpetuity. Gifts of long-lived assets and gifts of cash 
restricted for the acquisition of long-lived assets are recognized as revenue when the 
assets are placed in service. Contributions restricted by donors are reported as 
increases in net assets without donor restriction if the restrictions expire (that is, when 
a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished) in the 
reporting period in which the revenue is recognized. All other donor-restricted 
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions, 
depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets 
with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Organization considers all short-term highly 
liquid instruments to be cash equivalents provided they are both readily convertible to cash and 
had an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable is stated at face value. Management uses historical experience applied to 
an aging of accounts. Accounts receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible, when all 
efforts result in non-collection. No interest is charged on late receivables. Receivables are 
considered past due if the balance is outstanding for more than 90 days. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
 
An allowance for doubtful accounts has not been provided as management believes that all 
receivables are fully collectible. 
 
Pledges Receivable  
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the Organization that 
is, in substance, unconditional and legally enforceable. If a donor states an intent to give rather 
than a promise to give, contributions are recorded in the year payment is received. 
Contributions that are restricted by donor are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets if 
the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized. Pledges 
receivable were $0 and $0 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The Organization’s financial instruments consist of accounts receivable and accounts payable. It 
is management’s opinion that the Organization is not exposed to significant interest rate or 
credit risks arising from these instruments. Unless otherwise noted, the fair values of these 
financial instruments approximate their carrying value. The maximum potential loss form credit 
risk is equal to the carrying value. The Organization does not require collateral on these 
financial instruments. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost or, if donated, at the estimated fair value on the date 
of donation. Expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1,000 or more are 
capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. 
Replacements, maintenance, and repairs that do not improve or extend the life of the respective 
assets are expensed as incurred. Lives of property and equipment are as follows: 
 

Building and Leasehold Improvements 15-30 years
Furniture and Equipment 3-15 years
Vehicles 3-5 years  

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Contract Service Revenue 
 
The Organization receives revenue from federal, state and local contracts on a cost 
reimbursement, lump sum and a per-unit-served basis. These contracts and grants are for 
services performed by the Organization and, accordingly have been accounted for as exchange 
type transactions. A majority of these contracts are with various agencies of the State of New 
Mexico and make up a significant portion of the Organization’s revenues.  
 
Contracts and grants revenue are accounted for under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (ASC 606), recognizing revenue when performance obligations under the terms 
of the contracts with customers are satisfied. Prior to the adoption of ASC 606, the Organization 
recognized revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement existed, delivery of products 
had occurred, the sales price was fixed or determinable and collectability was reasonably 
assured. Income from service fees received in advance are deferred and recognized over the 
periods to which the dates and fees relate. 
 
Contributions Revenue 
 
Contributions are generally available for unrestricted use in the related year unless specifically 
restricted by the donor. Unconditional promises to give are recorded at the present value of their 
net realizable value, using risk -free interest rates applicable to the years in which the promises 
are received to discount the amounts. 
 
Grants and contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in 
substance, unconditional. Grants and contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported 
as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. All grant receivables are considered 
collectable. Grants and other contributions of cash and other assets are reported as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. 
When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction is accomplished, net 
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
The Organization does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) 
contracts with an original expected length of one year or less, or (ii) contracts for which the 
amount of revenue recognized is based on the amount to which the Organization has the right 
to invoice the customer for services performed. 
 
Unearned Revenue 
 
Occasionally, the Organization will receive funding that contains specific conditions that must be 
met by the Organization or the funds will revert back to the grantor or source. Because these 
funds are conditional, the funding is recorded as unearned revenue and deferred until such time 
as the conditions are met. At that point in time, the contract, grant or contribution income is 
recognized. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023 there were unearned revenues of $0 and $0, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Income Taxes  
 
PB&J is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3). The Corporation is exempt under 
Section 501(c)(2), of the Internal Revenue Code. Both organizations have been designated as 
other than private foundations. 
 
The Organization would record a liability for uncertain tax positions when it became probable 
that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Interest would be 
recognized and accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties 
in operating expenses. Expiring statutes of limitations, audits, proposed settlements, changes in 
tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually evaluated. Expiring statutes of limitations, 
audits, proposed settlements, changes in tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually 
evaluated. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, no liabilities for uncertain tax positions have been 
recorded. The Organization’s tax returns for the fiscal years ended 2021 to 2024, by statute, 
may be subject to normal federal and state examination. 
 
Investments 
 
Endowment funds are invested with the Albuquerque Community Foundation in a pooled fund of 
marketable securities valued at net realizable value, as determined by quoted prices as 
provided by the investment manager, who pools all funds and allocates investments activity to 
each fund accordingly. All investments in debt securities are reported at their fair values in the 
statement of financial position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net 
assets. Investment income and gains restricted by a donor are reported as increases in 
unrestricted net assets if the restrictions are met (either by passage of time or by use) in the 
reporting period in which the income and gains are recognized. 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation 
 
On November 7, 2007, the Organization established an “Agency Endowment Fund” 
(Agreement) at the Albuquerque Community Foundation (Foundation) with an initial contribution 
of $50,000 from the Organization’s funding sources and another $10,010 from donors of Angie’s 
Legacy. The Agreement and all contributions made to the fund are irrevocable. Under the terms 
of the Agreement, the Foundation may substitute another beneficiary in place of the 
Organization if the Organization ceases to be a qualified charitable organization. The Board of 
Trustees of the Foundation can modify the provisions of the Agreement designating use of the 
endowment if the purposes for which it was created ever become obsolete, incapable of 
fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable purposes of the Foundation. Annual distributions 
are calculated in accordance with the Foundation’s distribution policy and can be used by the 
Organization or can be added to the principal of the endowment. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation (Continued) 
 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-605 - Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit 
Organization or Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Contributions for Others, establishes 
standards for transactions in which a donor transfers assets to a not-for-profit organization or 
charitable trust that accepts the contribution with the stipulation that the recipient organization 
use those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both, on behalf of the beneficiary 
that is specified by the donor. ASC 958-605 specifically requires a not-for-profit organization that 
establishes a fund at a community foundation with its own funds and specifies itself as the 
beneficiary of that fund and grants the community foundation unilateral variance power must 
account for the transfer of such assets as an asset on its financial statements. Accordingly, the 
Organization has recognized the transfer to the Foundation of the $50,000 as an asset called 
“permanent endowment”, included with other assets in the statements of financial position. The 
donations to Angie’s Legacy of $10,010 were given to the Organization with the intent that the 
Organization would be the beneficiary of any earnings. Variance power was not explicitly 
granted by the original donors to the community foundation, and so these funds are also 
considered an asset of the Organization. 
 
Endowment Classification 
 
The State of New Mexico passed House Bill 454, effective July 1, 2009, requiring New Mexico 
organizations with endowments to adhere to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA). The law states that a not-for-profit organization that is subject to 
an enacted version of the UPMIFA shall classify a portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund 
of perpetual duration as permanently restricted net assets. The amount classified as 
permanently restricted shall be either a) the amount of the fund that must be retained 
permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations or b) the amount of the fund that, in 
the absence of explicit donor stipulations, the Organization's governing board determines must 
be retained permanently consistent with the relevant law. 
 
The original donors of the endowment funds did not explicitly state that the funds were to remain 
in perpetuity, and the Organization’s board of directors interpreted New Mexico’s UPMIFA law 
and do not conclude that the State of New Mexico requires endowment funds to remain in 
perpetuity in lieu of explicit donor stipulations. Accordingly, the Organization has classified the 
donor endowment funds as temporarily restricted, until the funds are used for their intended 
purpose, and have included the endowment with other long-term assets in the statements of 
financial position. 
 
Donated Services and Materials  
 
The Organization recognizes donated services that require specialized skills and are provided 
by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if not provided 
by donation. Such donations are reported at their estimated fair market value at the date of the 
donation as unrestricted support. Donated materials are recorded at the fair market value of the 
materials on the date of donation. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Functional Expense Allocations 
 
Expenses are charged directly to program and supporting services based on specific 
identification, when possible. Costs benefiting more than one function are allocated based on 
measures such as management’s estimates of time spent, square footage, etc. Significant 
expenses that are at least partially allocated include occupancy, supplies, travel, miscellaneous, 
and insurance. The allocation method for these costs is based on time and effort. 
 
Operating Cycle   
 
The majority of the Organization’s income is derived from state and federal contracts and 
grants. The lengths of the contracts vary, but they are generally one year or less. 
 
NOTE 2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the carrying amount of the Organization’s cash was $2,542,356 
and $678,927, respectively, which includes $300 cash on hand for both years.  
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and investments. The Organization maintains its available cash in a 
long-established financial institution. At times during the year, the Organization’s cash deposits 
may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits. The accounts were 
insured up to $250,000 under FDIC coverage per customer through June 30, 2024, and 2023. 
The Organization’s cash balances exceeded FDIC limits as follows at June 30,: 
 

Institution 2024 2023
Wells Fargo  $  2,542,056  $     678,627 
Petty Cash 300               300               

Total Reconciled Cash Balances 2,542,356$   678,927$      

                                        
Bank Balance 2,573,908$   693,559$      
Less: Insured by FDIC (250,000)       (250,000)       

Uncollateralized and Uninsured Balances 2,323,908$   443,559$       
 
The Organization’s cash balances included donor restricted cash of $ 239,492 and $72,770 at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS 
 
Investment Foundation 
 
The Albuquerque Community Foundation (ACF) manages the investments for the Organization. 
ACF creates and manages a pooled investment fund consisting of equity, U.S. Government 
Securities, bond mutual funds and cash.  
 

 Target %  Range % 
Total Equity 50% 40 - 60%
Total Fixed Income / Cash 12% 2 - 22%
Total Real Estate 10% 5 - 15%
Total Real Assets 5% 0 - 15%
Total Multi-Strategy 10% 0 - 20%
Total Private Equity 13% 3 - 23%

Total 100% 100%  
 

The Organization is subject to investment credit risk. Investment credit risk is the risk that an 
issuer or other counter party to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
 
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, provides the framework for measuring fair value. 
That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority 
to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy 
under FASB ASC 820 are described as follows: 
 
Basis of Fair Value Measurement 
 

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that Organization has the ability to 
access. 
 
Level 2 - Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active or financial 
instruments without quoted market prices, but for which all significant inputs are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the 
fair value measurement. 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2024: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Assets

Public Equity  55,834$    -$               $              -  $    55,834 
Private Equity  -                -                       14,669        14,669 
Fixed Income 16,182      -                                 -        16,182 
Real Assets 6,170        -                                 -          6,170 
Real Estate -                -                       17,822        17,822 
Multi-Strategy  -                -                       20,252        20,252 
Cash Equivalents 2,418        -                -                2,418        
Other -                -                1,000        1,000        

Total Investments at 
Fair Market Value  $    80,604  $              -  $    53,743  $  134,347  

 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Assets

Public Equity  53,610$    -$               $              -  $    53,610 
Private Equity  -                -                       13,918        13,918 
Fixed Income 14,454      -                                 -        14,454 
Real Assets 5,616        -                                 -          5,616 
Real Estate -                -                       18,733        18,733 
Multi-Strategy  -                -                       18,009        18,009 
Cash Equivalents 293           -                                 -             293 
Other -                -                1,000                 1,000 

Total Investments at 

Fair Market Value  $    73,973  $              -  $    51,660  $  125,633  
 
The Organization’s other investments consists of the following at June 30, 
 

Type 2024 2023
Cemetary Plot  $      1,000  $      1,000 
Interest in Oil Wells        25,000        25,000 
Less: Depletion in Oil Wells (25,000)     (25,000)     

Total Other Investments 1,000$      1,000$       
 
There was no depletion expense for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023. The carrying 
value of investments above approximates fair value. 
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2024: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions Transfer

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

Property and Equipment Not Being
Depreciated:

Land 67,306$      -$                -$                -$                67,306$     
Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306        -                  -                  -                  67,306       

Property and Equipment Being
 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 757,417      9,083          -                  -                  766,500     
Furniture and Equipment 652,263      95,878        4,509          -                  743,632     
Vehicles 459,360      82,829        -                  -                  542,189     

Total Property and Equipment 
Being Depreciated 1,869,040   187,790      4,509          -                  2,052,321  

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,783,832)  (34,195)       -                  -                  (1,818,027) 

Property and Equipment, Net 152,514$    153,595$    4,509$        -$                301,600$   

 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2022 Additions Deletions Transfer

 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Property and Equipment Not Being
Depreciated:

Land 67,306$      -$                -$                -$                67,306$     

Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306        -                  -                  -                  67,306       

Property and Equipment Being
 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 752,443      4,974          -                  -                  757,417     
Furniture and Equipment 675,800      32,789        -                  (56,326)       652,263     
Vehicles 459,360      -                  -                  -                  459,360     

Total Property and Equipment 

Being Depreciated 1,887,603   37,763        -                  (56,326)       1,869,040  

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,765,513)  (36,155)       -                  17,836        (1,783,832) 

Property and Equipment, Net 189,396$    1,608$        -$                (38,490)$     152,514$   
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s equipment lease 
previously presented as property and equipment in the amount of $56,326 has been reclassified 
as lease right-to-use asset for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Vans with net book values in the amount of $80,068 as of June 30, 2024, and 2023, are 
restricted as to their use as designated by granting agencies under government contracts and 
are included in total vehicle cost. Included in the original vehicles cost above are in-kind 
donations from the New Mexico State Highway and Transportation Department which 
represents 80% of the cost of the vans, or $178,129. 
 
Depreciation expense was $34,195 and $36,155 for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023, 
respectively.  
 
NOTE 5. LEASE RIGHT-TO-USE ASSETS 
 
Lease Right-to-Use Assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease:
Finance Lease - Equipment 56,326$        -$                  -$                  56,326$        

Total Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease 56,326          -                    -                    56,326          

Less: Accumulated Amortization for:

Finance Lease - Equipment (17,836)         (11,265)         -                    (29,101)         

Total Accumulated Amortization (17,836)         (11,265)         -                    (29,101)         

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease, Net 38,490$        (11,265)$       -$                  27,225$        

                    
 Balance at 

7/1/2022 Additions Deletions
 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease:
Finance Lease - Equipment 56,326$        -$                  -$                  56,326$        

Total Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease 56,326          -                    -                    56,326          

Less: Accumulated Amortization for:

Finance Lease - Equipment (6,571)           (11,265)         -                    (17,836)         

Total Accumulated Amortization (6,571)           (11,265)         -                    (17,836)         

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease, Net 49,755$        (11,265)$       -$                  38,490$        
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NOTE 5. LEASE RIGHT-TO-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Amortization expense was $11,265 and $11,265, for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, and is included with depreciation expense in the statement of functional expenses. 
 
NOTE 6. LEASE LIABILITY 
 
Finance Leases 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s lease previously 
presented as a capital lease in the amount of $51,351 has been reclassified as a finance lease 
liability for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

 Due Within 
One Year 

Finance Lease Liability 41,973$        -$                  (10,567)$       31,406$        11,907$        

41,973$        -$                  (10,567)$       31,406$        11,907$        

                                        
 Balance at 

7/1/2022 Additions Deletions
 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

 Due Within 
One Year 

Finance Lease Liability 51,351$        -$                  (9,378)$         41,973$        10,567$        

51,351$        -$                  (9,378)$         41,973$        10,567$        

 
The Organization leases equipment under a finance lease arrangement. There is no escalation 
clause for the equipment lease. There are no variable payments that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. There are no residual value guarantees that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. The Organization used interest rate of 12.00% stated in the lease 
agreement to calculate the present value of the equipment. 
 
The future payment obligations on the lease is as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
June 30, Principal Interest Total 

2025 11,907$      3,128$        15,035$      
2026 13,418        1,618          15,036        
2027 6,081          184             6,265          
2028 -              -              -              
2029 -              -              -              

Total 31,406$      4,930$        36,336$       
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NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
PB&J maintains a qualified 403(b) retirement plan. Eligible employees may defer a portion of 
their salary under this plan. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the PB&J contributes a 
discretionary match of salaries for all eligible employees. The plan has no age requirement and 
employees may participate immediately. Employer matching is 100% vested after two years of 
service. The total employer contributions made for the years ended June 30, 2024, and June 
30, 2023, was $11,990 and $13,111, respectively, with no additional discretionary contributions 
for either year. 
 
NOTE 8. NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS – BOARD DESIGNATED 
 
Board designated net assets include an endowment established in 2007 for investment 
purposes. The balance in the endowment as of June 30, 2024, and 2023 was $93,343 and 
$87,243, respectively. 
 
NOTE 9. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted for the following purposes or periods as of June 
30: 
 

2024 2023 

Subject to expenditure for specified purpose:
ImPACT Program 29,220$            $       31,605 
Angie's Legacy - Endowment 40,004             37,390          
Wilderness Program 6,710               6,827            
Holiday Wish 30,212             3,440            
Kerri's Fund 937                  937               
Keeping the Lights on Program 2,012               2,235            
ABQ SV Preschool 21,473             19,582          
Bernalillo Preschool 7,978               1,478            
SE Heights Preschool 9,166               6,666            
Outdoor Equity Fund 33,863             -                    
Robert T. Keeler Foundation 97,921             -                    

Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 279,496$         110,160$       
 
NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
Since June 30, 2009, the Organization has followed the Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies with regard to investing and spending. The Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies stipulate that annual distributions will be calculated (not to exceed 5% of the value of 
the endowment) for PB&J’s spending. However, PB&J can make the determination to leave any 
annual distributions in the endowment to continue to grow. As of June 30, 2024, PB&J has not 
taken an annual distribution from the endowment funds. If funds were to be taken as a 
distribution, the Board of Directors would make the recommendation as to the purpose of the 
funds to be spent. 
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NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in endowment net assets are as follows: 
 

 Without 
Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2022 81,957$           35,124$        117,081$      

Investment Income, net of expenses 92                    40                 132               
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) 5,194               2,226            7,420            

Change in Endowment Net Assets 5,286               2,266            7,552            

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2023 87,243$           37,390$        124,633$      

Investment Income, net of expenses 580                  248               828               
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) 5,520               2,366            7,886            

Change in Endowment Net Assets 6,100               2,614            8,714            

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2024 93,343$           40,004$        133,347$      

 
NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES 
 
PB&J has two primary locations. A portion of the main headquarters is leased from the County 
of Bernalillo with a portion owned by PB&J. The lease, dated July 1, 2005, is for a term of 5 
years with options to renew the lease for up to an additional 25 years. In July 2010, the first 
option to renew for the first five-year term was approved. In July 2015, the second option to 
renew for an additional five-year term was approved. The terms of the lease call for annual rent 
of $83,502. The rent is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J for disabled 
and indigent residents of Bernalillo County. Any shortfall in provided services is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J to the County of Bernalillo. 
 
PB&J opened a location in the Southeast Heights area of Albuquerque, NM in September 2011 
and entered into a facility agreement with Bernalillo County. The lease is for a term of 5 years, 
with one additional five-year option which was renewed in 2017. The annual rent is $78,750, 
and is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any shortfall is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J. In October 2022, the Organization renewed this lease for an initial term of 25 
years. The initial annual payment is $97,500 and increases by 3% annually on the anniversary 
date of the lease.  
 
PB&J rents facilities from the Town of Bernalillo, NM under a lease that began in July 2014. The 
lease is for a term of 5 years. A new one-year lease for additional space began on July 1, 2023. 
A part of the consideration for these arrangements is the provision of space in exchange for the 
provision of services at the facilities. The annual rent on the new lease is $69,492, and is to be 
paid with $17,364 in cash and the remainder in cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any 
short fall in services provided by PB&J is to be paid in cash. 
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NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES (CONTINUED) 
 
For the years ending June 30, 2024, and 2023, PB&J received and recognized $235,324 and 
$231,411, respectively, in in-kind rent in exchange for services. The services provided to the 
County of Bernalillo and the Town of Bernalillo were sufficient to cover the required annual 
services of the agreements. 
 
Future minimum rents for all noncash exchange of services are as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2025 186,187$          
2026 189,267            
2027 192,440            
2028 195,708            
2029 199,074            

Thereafter 3,337,806         

Total 4,300,482$        
 

NOTE 13. AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY 
 
The following table reflects the Organization’s financial assets reduced by amounts not available 
for general use within one year of that date because of donor-imposed restrictions or internal 
designations at June 30,: 
 

2024 2023
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,542,356$   678,927$      
Receivables 550,217        433,916        

Subtotal 3,092,573     1,112,843     
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions (Less Endowment) (239,492)       (72,770)         

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs for

General Expenditures Within One Year 2,853,081$   1,040,073$    
 

The available resources would cover more than three months of expenditures even if no 
revenue was received during that time period. The majority of the Organization’s revenues 
come from contracts with the State of New Mexico, which in some cases pass through from the 
federal government. 
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NOTE 14. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE 
 
PB&J has contracts with various State and Federal agencies. Significant revenues of PB&J 
include funding from New Mexico Children Youth and Families Department (CYFD) and 
Medicaid. Revenues from these sources were approximately 40% and 58% for the years ended 
June 30, 2024, and 2023, respectively. 
 
NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Management evaluated all activity through September 18, 2025, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. There are no other matters identified for recognition in the 
financial statements at June 30, 2024. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of PB&J Family 
Services, Inc. (a nonprofit organization) and affiliate (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated 
statements of financial position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of 
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Organization’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, nor detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified.   
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
TKM, LLC 

Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
September 18, 2025 
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
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Section I. Summary of Audit Results 
 
Financial Statements:  
 
1. Type of Auditors’ Report Issued:      Unmodified 

 
2. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: 

 
a. Material weaknesses identified?     No 
b. Significant deficiencies identified?     No 
c. Noncompliance material to consolidated financial statements noted?  No 
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FAMILY SERVICES 

September 29th, 2025

New Mexico Department of Transportation
1120 Cerrillos Road 
Santa Fe, NM 87504-1149 

RE: Section 5310 Match Requirement 

PB&J Family Services will provide funds to meet the 20% match requirement for our 
FY: 2027 SECTION 5310 Application. These funds will be allocated from our 
unrestricted reserves. 

Respectfully, 

Jennifer Thompson 
Executive Director 
PB&J Family Services 

1101 Lopez Road SW, Albuquerque, NM 87105 I 505-877-7060 I fax 505-877-7063 

255A Camino del Pueblo, Bernalillo, NM 87004 [ 505-867-2356 I fax 505-867-2357 [ pbjfamilyservices.org 
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Budget Proposal 

FY 26 Proposed
Revenue / Income 5,443,986

Total Exp 5,441,965$                    

Gain /Loss $2,021

Expenses: FY 26
            Salaries and Benefits 4,128,038$                    

            Employee background checks $1,265
            Conferences and Meetings $4,723
            Mileage & Fares $78,223
            Meals & Lodging $7,042
            Gas & Oil $21,434
            Auto M&R $12,735
            Auto Licenses and Permits $3,325
            Other Travel $151
            Client Assesments $4,156
            M&R, Furn, Fix, Eqmt $3,434
            M&R Buildings and Grounds $5,647
            Property & Liability Insurance $91,084
            Janitorial Supplies $7,953
            Medical Supplies $1,548
            Classroom Supplies $15,597
            Other Supplies $19,427
            Office Supplies $32,251
            Food $87,101
            Kitchen Supplies $5,099
            Computer & Data Supplies $5,872
            Educational Supplies $16,424
            Furniture & Equipment $17,863
            Social Activities $13,514
            Prof and Contract Services $58,360
            Audit and Accounting Fees $14,935
            Promotion $15,156
            Printing & Copying $19,797
            Computer Exp. Software & Maintena $3,406
            Postage and Shipping $3,718
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            Lease of Equipment $5,154
            Utilities $66,768
            Rent of Bldgs, Land $36,559
            Special Assistance to Individuals $71,686
            Telephone $74,180
            Subscriptions and Publications $33,272
            Education & Training $32,501
            Recruiting $4,439
            Wilderness Expense $4,860
            Membership Dues $3,310
            Licenses & Certifications $2,997
            Gas Card Assistance to Individuals $0
            Bank Service Charges $2,885
            Miscellaneous $7,265
            Capital Equipment $2,539
            Capital Improvement
            Occupancy Costs $40,945
            Property Taxes $143
            Interest Expense
            Fund Raising Expenses $4,287
            Inkind Expense $211,454
            Agency Special Events $0
            Employee Recognition $2,773
            Administrative and Support Fee $134,670
            Gain/Loss on Asset

Total Expenses >>> 5,441,965$                  
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PB&J Family Services 
1101 Lopez Road SW 
Albuquerque, NM 87105 
 
October 10, 2025 
 
PB&J Family Services Collaboration and Community Outreach  
 
PB&J Family Services continues to strengthen its commitment to collaboration and community 
partnerships throughout Bernalillo County and across New Mexico. Our programs are built on 
the belief that children and families thrive best when supported through coordinated systems of 
care and accessible services. 
 
As a long-standing community-based organization, PB&J actively collaborates with numerous 
agencies, programs, and provider networks to enhance the continuum of early childhood, family 
strengthening, and reintegration services. Key collaborative efforts for FY2025–2026 include: 
 
•Children, Youth and Families Department (CYFD): 
PB&J partners closely with CYFD through multiple contracts to provide prevention, home       
visiting, and family support programs. These collaborations ensure that families receive trauma-
informed and culturally responsive care across systems. 
 
• Bernalillo County ACE Collaborative: 
PB&J participates in quarterly meetings with the County and other ACE and contract providers. 
These convenings foster collective problem-solving, resource sharing, and systems alignment to 
reduce adverse childhood experiences and strengthen family stability. 
 
• South Valley Early Childhood Group (SVECG): 
As an active member of SVECG, PB&J contributes to collaborative outreach, community events, 
and joint initiatives designed to support children and families in the South Valley. Through this 
partnership, PB&J promotes early childhood education, parent engagement, and access to 
essential services. 
 
• Family Infant Toddler (FIT) Metro Quarterly Meetings: 
PB&J works alongside Early Intervention providers to coordinate services and transitions for 
infants and toddlers with developmental needs, ensuring families experience seamless support 
across agencies. 
 
• Home Visiting Collaborative Meetings: 
 Our Home Visiting Program participates in quarterly collaboratives to strengthen best practices, 
coordinate referrals, and promote comprehensive family engagement. 
 
• Lovelace G.R.A.C.E. Program: 
 PB&J is engaged in a developing partnership with Lovelace’s G.R.A.C.E. Program to provide 
cross-referrals and coordinated outreach for pregnant and parenting families. This collaboration 
increases access to resources and support services, including transportation for qualifying 
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families enrolled in PB&J programs. 
 
Through these ongoing collaborations, PB&J shares program information, referral pathways, and 
transportation support to ensure families can access services without barriers. These partnerships 
help PB&J uphold its mission to help at-risk children develop to their full potential in nurturing 
families within supportive communities. 
 
We look forward to continuing our partnerships and welcoming new collaborations that 
strengthen our collective impact for New Mexico’s children and families. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jennifer Thompson  
Executive Director 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
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FAMILY SERVICES 

September 29th, 2025

New Mexico Department of Transportation
1120 Cerrillos Road 
Santa Fe, NM 87504-1149 

RE: Section 5310 Match Requirement 

PB&J Family Services will provide funds to meet the 20% match requirement for our 
FY: 2027 SECTION 5310 Application. These funds will be allocated from our 
unrestricted reserves. 

Respectfully, 

Jennifer Thompson 
Executive Director 
PB&J Family Services 

1101 Lopez Road SW, Albuquerque, NM 87105 I 505-877-7060 I fax 505-877-7063 

255A Camino del Pueblo, Bernalillo, NM 87004 [ 505-867-2356 I fax 505-867-2357 [ pbjfamilyservices.org 
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NM Department of Transportation

1120 Cerrillos Road 
Santa Fe, NM 87504-1149 

 RE: Program Justification Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5310 Program 

PB&J Family Services extends its sincere appreciation to the Department of Transportation for your ongoing 
support of our transportation program. Your partnership plays a vital role in helping us remove barriers and 
expand access to essential family and early childhood services for our clients.

PB&J utilizes its fleet of vans to provide transportation for more than half of the families we serve, ensuring 
consistent participation in our center-based programs. Many of our clients face significant challenges related to 
transportation, including the absence of a personal vehicle and limited access to public transit. By addressing 
these barriers, PB&J enables families to engage more fully in parenting education, early childhood education, 
and early intervention services—supports that are foundational to strengthening families and improving long-
term outcomes.

Our vans are also used to facilitate family field trips and community-based activities, providing opportunities 
for children and parents to experience enriching events that might otherwise be out of reach. The more families 
we are able to serve, the greater the collective benefit to the well-being and resilience of our community.

In addition to transportation for center-based programs, PB&J provides case management services that connect 
families with vital community resources. Many clients require transportation assistance to attend medical, 
therapeutic, or social service appointments. While our agency vans are used for program-related transport, 
PB&J Family Intervention Specialists also utilize their personal vehicles, when appropriate, to ensure families 
can access the care and support they need.

Your continued investment in our transportation program strengthens PB&J’s capacity to bridge the gap 
between families in need and life-changing resources. Together, we are empowering parents, promoting child 
well-being, and contributing to a safer, more connected community.

Thank you for your ongoing partnership and for supporting PB&J Family Services in this critical work.

With gratitude,

Jennifer Thompson 

Executive Director 

September 29th, 2025
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PB&J Family Services, Inc. (a 
nonprofit organization), and affiliate (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional 
expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Organization and affiliate as of June 30, 2024, and 2023, and the changes in their 
net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are 
available to be issued. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
combined financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Organization's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 18, 
2025, on our consideration of the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.  

           
TKM, LLC 

Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 
 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
September 18, 2025
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

JUNE 30, 
 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

4 
 

ASSETS 2024 2023
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Without Donor Restrictions 2,302,864$        606,157$           
With Donor Restrictions 239,492             72,770               

Accounts Receivable 546,669             430,368             
Other Receivables 3,548                 3,548                 

Prepaid Expenses 69,735               44,293               

Total Current Assets 3,162,308          1,157,136          

Noncurrent Assets: 
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Donor Restricted) 40,004               37,390               
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Board Designated) 93,343               87,243               
Other Investments, Net 1,000                 1,000                 
Property and Equipment, Net 301,600             152,514             

Right-to-Use Asset, Finance Lease 27,225               38,490               

Total Noncurrent Assets 463,172             316,637             

Total Assets 3,625,480$        1,473,773$        

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 88,856$             97,584$             
Accrued Expenses 212,875             190,435             

Finance Lease Liability, Current 11,907               10,567               

Total Current Liabilities 313,638             298,586             

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Finance Lease Liability, Noncurrent 19,499               31,406               

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 19,499               31,406               

Total Liabilities 333,137             329,992             

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions:

Undesignated 2,919,504          946,378             
Board Designated - Permanent Endowment 93,343               87,243               

With Donor Restrictions 279,496             110,160             

Total Net Assets 3,292,343          1,143,781          

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,625,480$        1,473,773$        
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 4,537,567$         -$                  4,537,567$    
Contributions 2,188,235           259,795        2,448,030      
Noncash Exchange of Services 235,324              -                    235,324         
Gain (Loss) on Investment (1,702)                2,614            912                
Miscellaneous Income 7,119                  -                    7,119             

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 6,966,543           262,409        7,228,952      

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 93,073                (93,073)         -                     

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 7,059,616           169,336        7,228,952      

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,715,276           -                    2,715,276      
Home-Based 1,075,163           -                    1,075,163      
ImPACT 744,374              -                    744,374         

Total Program Services 4,534,812           -                    4,534,812      

Support Services

Property Management 1,257                  -                    1,257             
Management and General 519,076              -                    519,076         
Fundraising 25,245                -                    25,245           

Total Support Services 545,578              -                    545,578         

Total Expenses 5,080,390           -                    5,080,390      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 1,979,226           169,336        2,148,562      
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,033,621           110,160        1,143,781      

Net Assets, End of Year 3,012,847$         279,496$      3,292,343$     
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 3,666,847$         -$                  3,666,847$    
Contributions 274,101              25,092          299,193         
Noncash Exchange of Services 231,411              -                    231,411         
Gain (Loss) on Investment (1,032)                2,266            1,234             
Miscellaneous Income 30,553                -                    30,553           

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,201,880           27,358          4,229,238      

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 21,645                (21,645)         -                     

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,223,525           5,713            4,229,238      

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,803,895           -                    2,803,895      
Home-Based 980,086              -                    980,086         
ImPACT 498,288              -                    498,288         

Total Program Services 4,282,269           -                    4,282,269      

Support Services

Property Management 1,257                  -                    1,257             
Management and General 538,054              -                    538,054         
Fundraising 97,895                -                    97,895           

Total Support Services 637,206              -                    637,206         

Total Expenses 4,919,475           -                    4,919,475      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (695,950)            5,713            (690,237)        
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,729,571           104,447        1,834,018      
Net Assets, End of Year 1,033,621$         110,160$      1,143,781$    
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PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
 

See Independent Auditors’ Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management 
and General  Fundraising  Total 

Expenses

Salaries 1,768,418$          712,041$             492,119$          -$                           131,580$             1,555$              3,105,713$      
Payroll Taxes 155,305                93,780                  54,414              -                             -                             -                          303,498            

Employee Benefits 168,369                59,433                  41,920              -                             17,378                  -                          287,100            

Total Personnel 2,092,092            865,254                588,453            -                             148,958                1,555                 3,696,311         

In-kind Rent 183,509                15,943                  15,943              -                             19,929                  -                          235,324            
Building and Occupancy 115,261                47,385                  6,181                 -                             34,784                  -                          203,611            
Supplies 124,992                22,183                  29,371              -                             3,855                    767                    181,168            
Administrative & Support Fee -                             -                             -                          -                             227,645                -                          227,645            
Family Support 9,827                    43,408                  33,478              -                             4,044                    -                          90,757              
Professional Services 5,672                    -                             12,183              -                             60,028                  3,990                 81,873              
Travel 51,641                  33,680                  32,234              -                             553                        60                      118,168            
Miscellaneous 3,797                    2,913                    6,048                 -                             6,431                    -                          19,189              
Insurance 50,149                  20,569                  2,869                 -                             1,146                    -                          74,733              
Repairs and Maintenance 15,852                  25                          -                          -                             4,721                    -                          20,598              
Education and Training 3,686                    9,646                    3,033                 -                             2,498                    -                          18,863              
Printing and Publishing 8,447                    2,606                    1,994                 -                             391                        -                          13,438              
Subscriptions and Publications 2,435                    10,682                  9,573                 -                             1,674                    18,873              43,237              
Equipment Rental 3,440                    48                          43                      -                             1,922                    -                          5,453                 
Postage and Shipping 2,533                    821                        586                    -                             497                        -                          4,437                 

Total Other Expenses 581,241                209,909                153,536            -                             370,118                23,690              1,338,494         

Depreciation and Amortization 41,943                  -                             2,385                 1,257                    -                             -                          45,585              
Interest -                             -                             -                          -                             -                             -                          -                          

Total Expenses 2,715,276$          1,075,163$          744,374$          1,257$                  519,076$             25,245$            5,080,390$      

Program Services Support Services
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management 
and General  Fundraising  Total 

Expenses

Salaries 1,845,242$   632,545$   349,203$    -$  270,031$   22,822$   3,119,843$   
Payroll Taxes 148,604  83,292  37,482  - 33,632 2,638  305,648  
Employee Benefits 143,688  57,086  24,525  - 20,501 600  246,400  

Total Personnel 2,137,534  772,923   411,210  - 324,164 26,060  3,671,891  

192,696  21,973  16,742  -  -  -  231,411  
145,663  37,167  13,049  - 119,387 - 315,266 
127,620  25,550  8,962  - 6,646 2,011  170,789 

13,405  33,693  18,060  - - -  65,158  
17,825  888  135  - 44,498 4,638  67,984  
45,946  20,857  18,638  - 503                        22  85,966  

7,312  30,107  3,523  - 12,013 30,935  83,890  
48,767  14,988  2,593  - 6,747 - 73,095 
13,843  - 126 - 4,245 - 18,214 

6,896  19,282  2,222 -  868  495  29,763 
5,280  1,217  -   -  1,228  - 7,725 

874  159  478  - 14,125 31,545  47,181 
2,327  -  -   -  1,914  - 4,241 

In-kind Rent
Building and Occupancy 
Supplies
Family Support
Professional Services
Travel
Miscellaneous
Insurance
Repairs and Maintenance 
Education and Training 
Printing and Publication 
Subscriptions and Publications 
Equipment Rental
Postage and Shipping 1,489  382  165  -  807  2,189  5,032 

Total Other Expenses 629,943  206,263   84,693  - 212,981 71,835  1,205,715  

Depreciation and Amortization 32,513  - 2,385 1,257  -  -  36,155  
Interest 3,905  900  -   -  909  - 5,714 

Total Expenses 2,803,895$   980,086$   498,288$    1,257$   538,054$   97,895$   4,919,475$   

Program Services Support Services
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2024 2023

Cash Flow From Operating Activities 
Cash Received From Grants and Contracts 4,421,266$          3,582,524$          
Cash Received From Contributions 2,448,030           299,193              
Cash Received From Other Sources 7,119                  30,553                
Cash Paid to Employees and Suppliers (4,811,211)          (4,593,291)          
Interest Paid -                         (5,714)                 

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 2,065,204           (686,735)             

Cash Flow From Investing Activities 
Purchase of Equipment (187,790)             37,763                
Purchase of Endowment Investments 69,352                (12,542)               
Sale of Endowment Investments -                         23                      

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities (118,438)             25,244                

Cash Flow From Financing Activities 
Finance Lease Payments (10,567)               (9,378)                 

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities (10,567)               (9,378)                 

Net Increase (Decrease) - Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,936,199           (670,869)             

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 606,157              1,349,796           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 2,542,356           678,927              

Less: Donor Restrictions (239,492)             (72,770)               

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 2,302,864$          606,157$            

                                                  
Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Net Cash:

Change in Net Assets 2,148,562$          (690,237)$           
Depreciation and Amortization 45,585                36,155                
Net Realized / Unrealized Gains / Losses on Investments (912)                   (1,234)                 

Change in:
Accounts Receivable (116,301)             (83,349)               
Other Receivables -                         (974)                   
Prepaid Expenses (25,442)               9,472                  
Accounts Payable (8,728)                 27,644                
Accrued Expenses 22,440                15,788                

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 2,065,204$          (686,735)$           
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Organization & Nature of Operations 
 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. (PB&J) was established in 1972 in Albuquerque, NM as a non-profit 
organization focused on helping to create a community of happy and healthy families. The 
organization continues its mission of child abuse prevention through parent education and case 
management services. PB&J continues to innovate and meet the needs of the community that it 
serves through comprehensive programs and services. The following programs and services 
are representative of the work done at PB&J. 
 

Preschool - Center based programs such as NM Pre-K, Children’s Support Group, 
and Parenting Program are delivered at the offices of PB&J. These programs serve 
children and families with education meant to develop new skills for a brighter future. 
 
ImPACT - PB&J delivers services to incarcerated parents and youth through 
programs such as Juvenile Community Corrections and the Metro Detention Center 
program. These programs are intended to reach an underserved population with 
education, life skills, case management, and resource referrals. 
 
Home-Based - PB&J offers home based programs such as Home Visiting, Family 
Infant Toddler Program, and Community Based Prevention, Intervention, and 
Reunification. The home-based programs at PB&J are meant to decrease barriers for 
families and deliver services in the family familiar environment. These programs offer 
parent education, case management, child development, and resource referrals to 
the families that they serve. 

 
Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the Corporation) is a New Mexico not-for-profit 
corporation established in 1994. The Corporation was established to provide management of 
property specially designed for use by client families services to meet their physical, social 
emotional and psychological needs, and to promote their health, security, happiness and 
usefulness. The Corporation is an affiliate of PB&J.  
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
PB&J is financially interrelated through control and economic interest to another not-for-profit 
organization, Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the “Corporation”). Generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America require the financial statements 
of PB&J and the Corporation to be consolidated (the “Organization”). All significant inter-
organization accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting and accordingly reflect all significant receivables, payables, and other 
liabilities. 
 
Financial Statement Presentation 
 
Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of 
donor or grantor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are 
classified and reported as follows: 
 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-
imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary 
objectives of the Organization. The Organization’s Board of Directors may designate 
assets without assets without restrictions for specific operational purposes from time 
to time. The net assets without donor restrictions represent the investment in 
undesignated assets, investment in designated assets, and amounts invested in 
property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
related debt. 
 
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those 
that will be met by the passages of time or other events specified by the donor. Other 
donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that 
resources be maintained in perpetuity. Gifts of long-lived assets and gifts of cash 
restricted for the acquisition of long-lived assets are recognized as revenue when the 
assets are placed in service. Contributions restricted by donors are reported as 
increases in net assets without donor restriction if the restrictions expire (that is, when 
a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished) in the 
reporting period in which the revenue is recognized. All other donor-restricted 
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions, 
depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets 
with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Organization considers all short-term highly 
liquid instruments to be cash equivalents provided they are both readily convertible to cash and 
had an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable is stated at face value. Management uses historical experience applied to 
an aging of accounts. Accounts receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible, when all 
efforts result in non-collection. No interest is charged on late receivables. Receivables are 
considered past due if the balance is outstanding for more than 90 days. 



148 of 198

PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024, AND 2023 
 

13 
 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
 
An allowance for doubtful accounts has not been provided as management believes that all 
receivables are fully collectible. 
 
Pledges Receivable  
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the Organization that 
is, in substance, unconditional and legally enforceable. If a donor states an intent to give rather 
than a promise to give, contributions are recorded in the year payment is received. 
Contributions that are restricted by donor are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets if 
the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized. Pledges 
receivable were $0 and $0 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The Organization’s financial instruments consist of accounts receivable and accounts payable. It 
is management’s opinion that the Organization is not exposed to significant interest rate or 
credit risks arising from these instruments. Unless otherwise noted, the fair values of these 
financial instruments approximate their carrying value. The maximum potential loss form credit 
risk is equal to the carrying value. The Organization does not require collateral on these 
financial instruments. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost or, if donated, at the estimated fair value on the date 
of donation. Expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1,000 or more are 
capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. 
Replacements, maintenance, and repairs that do not improve or extend the life of the respective 
assets are expensed as incurred. Lives of property and equipment are as follows: 
 

Building and Leasehold Improvements 15-30 years
Furniture and Equipment 3-15 years
Vehicles 3-5 years  

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Contract Service Revenue 
 
The Organization receives revenue from federal, state and local contracts on a cost 
reimbursement, lump sum and a per-unit-served basis. These contracts and grants are for 
services performed by the Organization and, accordingly have been accounted for as exchange 
type transactions. A majority of these contracts are with various agencies of the State of New 
Mexico and make up a significant portion of the Organization’s revenues.  
 
Contracts and grants revenue are accounted for under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (ASC 606), recognizing revenue when performance obligations under the terms 
of the contracts with customers are satisfied. Prior to the adoption of ASC 606, the Organization 
recognized revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement existed, delivery of products 
had occurred, the sales price was fixed or determinable and collectability was reasonably 
assured. Income from service fees received in advance are deferred and recognized over the 
periods to which the dates and fees relate. 
 
Contributions Revenue 
 
Contributions are generally available for unrestricted use in the related year unless specifically 
restricted by the donor. Unconditional promises to give are recorded at the present value of their 
net realizable value, using risk -free interest rates applicable to the years in which the promises 
are received to discount the amounts. 
 
Grants and contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in 
substance, unconditional. Grants and contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported 
as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. All grant receivables are considered 
collectable. Grants and other contributions of cash and other assets are reported as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. 
When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction is accomplished, net 
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
The Organization does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) 
contracts with an original expected length of one year or less, or (ii) contracts for which the 
amount of revenue recognized is based on the amount to which the Organization has the right 
to invoice the customer for services performed. 
 
Unearned Revenue 
 
Occasionally, the Organization will receive funding that contains specific conditions that must be 
met by the Organization or the funds will revert back to the grantor or source. Because these 
funds are conditional, the funding is recorded as unearned revenue and deferred until such time 
as the conditions are met. At that point in time, the contract, grant or contribution income is 
recognized. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023 there were unearned revenues of $0 and $0, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Income Taxes  
 
PB&J is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3). The Corporation is exempt under 
Section 501(c)(2), of the Internal Revenue Code. Both organizations have been designated as 
other than private foundations. 
 
The Organization would record a liability for uncertain tax positions when it became probable 
that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Interest would be 
recognized and accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties 
in operating expenses. Expiring statutes of limitations, audits, proposed settlements, changes in 
tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually evaluated. Expiring statutes of limitations, 
audits, proposed settlements, changes in tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually 
evaluated. As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, no liabilities for uncertain tax positions have been 
recorded. The Organization’s tax returns for the fiscal years ended 2021 to 2024, by statute, 
may be subject to normal federal and state examination. 
 
Investments 
 
Endowment funds are invested with the Albuquerque Community Foundation in a pooled fund of 
marketable securities valued at net realizable value, as determined by quoted prices as 
provided by the investment manager, who pools all funds and allocates investments activity to 
each fund accordingly. All investments in debt securities are reported at their fair values in the 
statement of financial position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net 
assets. Investment income and gains restricted by a donor are reported as increases in 
unrestricted net assets if the restrictions are met (either by passage of time or by use) in the 
reporting period in which the income and gains are recognized. 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation 
 
On November 7, 2007, the Organization established an “Agency Endowment Fund” 
(Agreement) at the Albuquerque Community Foundation (Foundation) with an initial contribution 
of $50,000 from the Organization’s funding sources and another $10,010 from donors of Angie’s 
Legacy. The Agreement and all contributions made to the fund are irrevocable. Under the terms 
of the Agreement, the Foundation may substitute another beneficiary in place of the 
Organization if the Organization ceases to be a qualified charitable organization. The Board of 
Trustees of the Foundation can modify the provisions of the Agreement designating use of the 
endowment if the purposes for which it was created ever become obsolete, incapable of 
fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable purposes of the Foundation. Annual distributions 
are calculated in accordance with the Foundation’s distribution policy and can be used by the 
Organization or can be added to the principal of the endowment. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation (Continued) 
 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-605 - Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit 
Organization or Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Contributions for Others, establishes 
standards for transactions in which a donor transfers assets to a not-for-profit organization or 
charitable trust that accepts the contribution with the stipulation that the recipient organization 
use those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both, on behalf of the beneficiary 
that is specified by the donor. ASC 958-605 specifically requires a not-for-profit organization that 
establishes a fund at a community foundation with its own funds and specifies itself as the 
beneficiary of that fund and grants the community foundation unilateral variance power must 
account for the transfer of such assets as an asset on its financial statements. Accordingly, the 
Organization has recognized the transfer to the Foundation of the $50,000 as an asset called 
“permanent endowment”, included with other assets in the statements of financial position. The 
donations to Angie’s Legacy of $10,010 were given to the Organization with the intent that the 
Organization would be the beneficiary of any earnings. Variance power was not explicitly 
granted by the original donors to the community foundation, and so these funds are also 
considered an asset of the Organization. 
 
Endowment Classification 
 
The State of New Mexico passed House Bill 454, effective July 1, 2009, requiring New Mexico 
organizations with endowments to adhere to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA). The law states that a not-for-profit organization that is subject to 
an enacted version of the UPMIFA shall classify a portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund 
of perpetual duration as permanently restricted net assets. The amount classified as 
permanently restricted shall be either a) the amount of the fund that must be retained 
permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations or b) the amount of the fund that, in 
the absence of explicit donor stipulations, the Organization's governing board determines must 
be retained permanently consistent with the relevant law. 
 
The original donors of the endowment funds did not explicitly state that the funds were to remain 
in perpetuity, and the Organization’s board of directors interpreted New Mexico’s UPMIFA law 
and do not conclude that the State of New Mexico requires endowment funds to remain in 
perpetuity in lieu of explicit donor stipulations. Accordingly, the Organization has classified the 
donor endowment funds as temporarily restricted, until the funds are used for their intended 
purpose, and have included the endowment with other long-term assets in the statements of 
financial position. 
 
Donated Services and Materials  
 
The Organization recognizes donated services that require specialized skills and are provided 
by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if not provided 
by donation. Such donations are reported at their estimated fair market value at the date of the 
donation as unrestricted support. Donated materials are recorded at the fair market value of the 
materials on the date of donation. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Functional Expense Allocations 
 
Expenses are charged directly to program and supporting services based on specific 
identification, when possible. Costs benefiting more than one function are allocated based on 
measures such as management’s estimates of time spent, square footage, etc. Significant 
expenses that are at least partially allocated include occupancy, supplies, travel, miscellaneous, 
and insurance. The allocation method for these costs is based on time and effort. 
 
Operating Cycle   
 
The majority of the Organization’s income is derived from state and federal contracts and 
grants. The lengths of the contracts vary, but they are generally one year or less. 
 
NOTE 2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the carrying amount of the Organization’s cash was $2,542,356 
and $678,927, respectively, which includes $300 cash on hand for both years.  
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and investments. The Organization maintains its available cash in a 
long-established financial institution. At times during the year, the Organization’s cash deposits 
may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits. The accounts were 
insured up to $250,000 under FDIC coverage per customer through June 30, 2024, and 2023. 
The Organization’s cash balances exceeded FDIC limits as follows at June 30,: 
 

Institution 2024 2023
Wells Fargo  $  2,542,056  $     678,627 
Petty Cash 300               300               

Total Reconciled Cash Balances 2,542,356$   678,927$      

                                        
Bank Balance 2,573,908$   693,559$      
Less: Insured by FDIC (250,000)       (250,000)       

Uncollateralized and Uninsured Balances 2,323,908$   443,559$       
 
The Organization’s cash balances included donor restricted cash of $ 239,492 and $72,770 at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 



153 of 198

PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2024, AND 2023 
 

18 
 

NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS 
 
Investment Foundation 
 
The Albuquerque Community Foundation (ACF) manages the investments for the Organization. 
ACF creates and manages a pooled investment fund consisting of equity, U.S. Government 
Securities, bond mutual funds and cash.  
 

 Target %  Range % 
Total Equity 50% 40 - 60%
Total Fixed Income / Cash 12% 2 - 22%
Total Real Estate 10% 5 - 15%
Total Real Assets 5% 0 - 15%
Total Multi-Strategy 10% 0 - 20%
Total Private Equity 13% 3 - 23%

Total 100% 100%  
 

The Organization is subject to investment credit risk. Investment credit risk is the risk that an 
issuer or other counter party to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
 
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, provides the framework for measuring fair value. 
That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority 
to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy 
under FASB ASC 820 are described as follows: 
 
Basis of Fair Value Measurement 
 

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that Organization has the ability to 
access. 
 
Level 2 - Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active or financial 
instruments without quoted market prices, but for which all significant inputs are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the 
fair value measurement. 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2024: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Assets

Public Equity  55,834$    -$               $              -  $    55,834 
Private Equity  -                -                       14,669        14,669 
Fixed Income 16,182      -                                 -        16,182 
Real Assets 6,170        -                                 -          6,170 
Real Estate -                -                       17,822        17,822 
Multi-Strategy  -                -                       20,252        20,252 
Cash Equivalents 2,418        -                -                2,418        
Other -                -                1,000        1,000        

Total Investments at 
Fair Market Value  $    80,604  $              -  $    53,743  $  134,347  

 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Assets

Public Equity  53,610$    -$               $              -  $    53,610 
Private Equity  -                -                       13,918        13,918 
Fixed Income 14,454      -                                 -        14,454 
Real Assets 5,616        -                                 -          5,616 
Real Estate -                -                       18,733        18,733 
Multi-Strategy  -                -                       18,009        18,009 
Cash Equivalents 293           -                                 -             293 
Other -                -                1,000                 1,000 

Total Investments at 

Fair Market Value  $    73,973  $              -  $    51,660  $  125,633  
 
The Organization’s other investments consists of the following at June 30, 
 

Type 2024 2023
Cemetary Plot  $      1,000  $      1,000 
Interest in Oil Wells        25,000        25,000 
Less: Depletion in Oil Wells (25,000)     (25,000)     

Total Other Investments 1,000$      1,000$       
 
There was no depletion expense for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023. The carrying 
value of investments above approximates fair value. 
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2024: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions Transfer

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

Property and Equipment Not Being
Depreciated:

Land 67,306$      -$                -$                -$                67,306$     
Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306        -                  -                  -                  67,306       

Property and Equipment Being
 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 757,417      9,083          -                  -                  766,500     
Furniture and Equipment 652,263      95,878        4,509          -                  743,632     
Vehicles 459,360      82,829        -                  -                  542,189     

Total Property and Equipment 
Being Depreciated 1,869,040   187,790      4,509          -                  2,052,321  

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,783,832)  (34,195)       -                  -                  (1,818,027) 

Property and Equipment, Net 152,514$    153,595$    4,509$        -$                301,600$   

 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2022 Additions Deletions Transfer

 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Property and Equipment Not Being
Depreciated:

Land 67,306$      -$                -$                -$                67,306$     

Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306        -                  -                  -                  67,306       

Property and Equipment Being
 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 752,443      4,974          -                  -                  757,417     
Furniture and Equipment 675,800      32,789        -                  (56,326)       652,263     
Vehicles 459,360      -                  -                  -                  459,360     

Total Property and Equipment 

Being Depreciated 1,887,603   37,763        -                  (56,326)       1,869,040  

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,765,513)  (36,155)       -                  17,836        (1,783,832) 

Property and Equipment, Net 189,396$    1,608$        -$                (38,490)$     152,514$   
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s equipment lease 
previously presented as property and equipment in the amount of $56,326 has been reclassified 
as lease right-to-use asset for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Vans with net book values in the amount of $80,068 as of June 30, 2024, and 2023, are 
restricted as to their use as designated by granting agencies under government contracts and 
are included in total vehicle cost. Included in the original vehicles cost above are in-kind 
donations from the New Mexico State Highway and Transportation Department which 
represents 80% of the cost of the vans, or $178,129. 
 
Depreciation expense was $34,195 and $36,155 for the years ended June 30, 2024, and 2023, 
respectively.  
 
NOTE 5. LEASE RIGHT-TO-USE ASSETS 
 
Lease Right-to-Use Assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease:
Finance Lease - Equipment 56,326$        -$                  -$                  56,326$        

Total Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease 56,326          -                    -                    56,326          

Less: Accumulated Amortization for:

Finance Lease - Equipment (17,836)         (11,265)         -                    (29,101)         

Total Accumulated Amortization (17,836)         (11,265)         -                    (29,101)         

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease, Net 38,490$        (11,265)$       -$                  27,225$        

                    
 Balance at 

7/1/2022 Additions Deletions
 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease:
Finance Lease - Equipment 56,326$        -$                  -$                  56,326$        

Total Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease 56,326          -                    -                    56,326          

Less: Accumulated Amortization for:

Finance Lease - Equipment (6,571)           (11,265)         -                    (17,836)         

Total Accumulated Amortization (6,571)           (11,265)         -                    (17,836)         

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease, Net 49,755$        (11,265)$       -$                  38,490$        
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NOTE 5. LEASE RIGHT-TO-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Amortization expense was $11,265 and $11,265, for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, and is included with depreciation expense in the statement of functional expenses. 
 
NOTE 6. LEASE LIABILITY 
 
Finance Leases 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s lease previously 
presented as a capital lease in the amount of $51,351 has been reclassified as a finance lease 
liability for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2023 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2024 

 Due Within 
One Year 

Finance Lease Liability 41,973$        -$                  (10,567)$       31,406$        11,907$        

41,973$        -$                  (10,567)$       31,406$        11,907$        

                                        
 Balance at 

7/1/2022 Additions Deletions
 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

 Due Within 
One Year 

Finance Lease Liability 51,351$        -$                  (9,378)$         41,973$        10,567$        

51,351$        -$                  (9,378)$         41,973$        10,567$        

 
The Organization leases equipment under a finance lease arrangement. There is no escalation 
clause for the equipment lease. There are no variable payments that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. There are no residual value guarantees that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. The Organization used interest rate of 12.00% stated in the lease 
agreement to calculate the present value of the equipment. 
 
The future payment obligations on the lease is as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
June 30, Principal Interest Total 

2025 11,907$      3,128$        15,035$      
2026 13,418        1,618          15,036        
2027 6,081          184             6,265          
2028 -              -              -              
2029 -              -              -              

Total 31,406$      4,930$        36,336$       
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NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
PB&J maintains a qualified 403(b) retirement plan. Eligible employees may defer a portion of 
their salary under this plan. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the PB&J contributes a 
discretionary match of salaries for all eligible employees. The plan has no age requirement and 
employees may participate immediately. Employer matching is 100% vested after two years of 
service. The total employer contributions made for the years ended June 30, 2024, and June 
30, 2023, was $11,990 and $13,111, respectively, with no additional discretionary contributions 
for either year. 
 
NOTE 8. NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS – BOARD DESIGNATED 
 
Board designated net assets include an endowment established in 2007 for investment 
purposes. The balance in the endowment as of June 30, 2024, and 2023 was $93,343 and 
$87,243, respectively. 
 
NOTE 9. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted for the following purposes or periods as of June 
30: 
 

2024 2023 

Subject to expenditure for specified purpose:
ImPACT Program 29,220$            $       31,605 
Angie's Legacy - Endowment 40,004             37,390          
Wilderness Program 6,710               6,827            
Holiday Wish 30,212             3,440            
Kerri's Fund 937                  937               
Keeping the Lights on Program 2,012               2,235            
ABQ SV Preschool 21,473             19,582          
Bernalillo Preschool 7,978               1,478            
SE Heights Preschool 9,166               6,666            
Outdoor Equity Fund 33,863             -                    
Robert T. Keeler Foundation 97,921             -                    

Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 279,496$         110,160$       
 
NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
Since June 30, 2009, the Organization has followed the Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies with regard to investing and spending. The Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies stipulate that annual distributions will be calculated (not to exceed 5% of the value of 
the endowment) for PB&J’s spending. However, PB&J can make the determination to leave any 
annual distributions in the endowment to continue to grow. As of June 30, 2024, PB&J has not 
taken an annual distribution from the endowment funds. If funds were to be taken as a 
distribution, the Board of Directors would make the recommendation as to the purpose of the 
funds to be spent. 
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NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in endowment net assets are as follows: 
 

 Without 
Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2022 81,957$           35,124$        117,081$      

Investment Income, net of expenses 92                    40                 132               
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) 5,194               2,226            7,420            

Change in Endowment Net Assets 5,286               2,266            7,552            

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2023 87,243$           37,390$        124,633$      

Investment Income, net of expenses 580                  248               828               
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) 5,520               2,366            7,886            

Change in Endowment Net Assets 6,100               2,614            8,714            

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2024 93,343$           40,004$        133,347$      

 
NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES 
 
PB&J has two primary locations. A portion of the main headquarters is leased from the County 
of Bernalillo with a portion owned by PB&J. The lease, dated July 1, 2005, is for a term of 5 
years with options to renew the lease for up to an additional 25 years. In July 2010, the first 
option to renew for the first five-year term was approved. In July 2015, the second option to 
renew for an additional five-year term was approved. The terms of the lease call for annual rent 
of $83,502. The rent is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J for disabled 
and indigent residents of Bernalillo County. Any shortfall in provided services is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J to the County of Bernalillo. 
 
PB&J opened a location in the Southeast Heights area of Albuquerque, NM in September 2011 
and entered into a facility agreement with Bernalillo County. The lease is for a term of 5 years, 
with one additional five-year option which was renewed in 2017. The annual rent is $78,750, 
and is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any shortfall is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J. In October 2022, the Organization renewed this lease for an initial term of 25 
years. The initial annual payment is $97,500 and increases by 3% annually on the anniversary 
date of the lease.  
 
PB&J rents facilities from the Town of Bernalillo, NM under a lease that began in July 2014. The 
lease is for a term of 5 years. A new one-year lease for additional space began on July 1, 2023. 
A part of the consideration for these arrangements is the provision of space in exchange for the 
provision of services at the facilities. The annual rent on the new lease is $69,492, and is to be 
paid with $17,364 in cash and the remainder in cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any 
short fall in services provided by PB&J is to be paid in cash. 
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NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES (CONTINUED) 
 
For the years ending June 30, 2024, and 2023, PB&J received and recognized $235,324 and 
$231,411, respectively, in in-kind rent in exchange for services. The services provided to the 
County of Bernalillo and the Town of Bernalillo were sufficient to cover the required annual 
services of the agreements. 
 
Future minimum rents for all noncash exchange of services are as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2025 186,187$          
2026 189,267            
2027 192,440            
2028 195,708            
2029 199,074            

Thereafter 3,337,806         

Total 4,300,482$        
 

NOTE 13. AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY 
 
The following table reflects the Organization’s financial assets reduced by amounts not available 
for general use within one year of that date because of donor-imposed restrictions or internal 
designations at June 30,: 
 

2024 2023
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,542,356$   678,927$      
Receivables 550,217        433,916        

Subtotal 3,092,573     1,112,843     
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions (Less Endowment) (239,492)       (72,770)         

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs for

General Expenditures Within One Year 2,853,081$   1,040,073$    
 

The available resources would cover more than three months of expenditures even if no 
revenue was received during that time period. The majority of the Organization’s revenues 
come from contracts with the State of New Mexico, which in some cases pass through from the 
federal government. 
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NOTE 14. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE 
 
PB&J has contracts with various State and Federal agencies. Significant revenues of PB&J 
include funding from New Mexico Children Youth and Families Department (CYFD) and 
Medicaid. Revenues from these sources were approximately 40% and 58% for the years ended 
June 30, 2024, and 2023, respectively. 
 
NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Management evaluated all activity through September 18, 2025, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. There are no other matters identified for recognition in the 
financial statements at June 30, 2024. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of PB&J Family 
Services, Inc. (a nonprofit organization) and affiliate (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated 
statements of financial position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of 
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Organization’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, nor detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified.   
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
TKM, LLC 

Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
September 18, 2025 
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Section I. Summary of Audit Results 
 
Financial Statements:  
 
1. Type of Auditors’ Report Issued:      Unmodified 

 
2. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: 

 
a. Material weaknesses identified?     No 
b. Significant deficiencies identified?     No 
c. Noncompliance material to consolidated financial statements noted?  No 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PB&J Family Services, Inc. (a 
nonprofit organization), and its related affiliate, Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (a corporation), 
collectively referred to as the Organization which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 
of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Organization as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in their net assets 
and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are 
available to be issued. 



170 of 198

 

2 
 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 30, 2024, on 
our consideration of the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.  

           
 

TKM, LLC 
Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 

 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
April 30, 2024 
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ASSETS 2023 2022
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Without Donor Restrictions 606,157$            1,349,796$         
With Donor Restrictions 72,770 69,325                

Accounts Receivable 430,368              347,019              
Other Receivables 3,548 2,574                  

Prepaid Expenses 44,293                53,765                

Total Current Assets 1,157,136           1,822,479           

Noncurrent Assets: 
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Donor Restricted) 37,390                35,124                
Investment - Permanent Endowment (Board Designated) 87,243                81,957                
Other Investments, Net 1,000                  1,000                  
Property and Equipment, Net 152,514              189,396              

Right-to-Use Asset, Finance Lease 38,490                -                         

Total Noncurrent Assets 316,637              307,477              

Total Assets 1,473,773$         2,129,956$         

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 97,584$              69,940$              
Accrued Expenses 190,435              174,647              

Finance Lease Liability, Current 10,567                9,378                  

Total Current Liabilities 298,586              253,965              

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Finance Lease Liability, Noncurrent 31,406                41,973                

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 31,406                41,973                

Total Liabilities 329,992              295,938              

NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions:

Undesignated 946,378              1,647,614           
Board Designated - Permanent Endowment 87,243                81,957                

With Donor Restrictions 110,160              104,447              

Total Net Assets 1,143,781           1,834,018           

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,473,773$         2,129,956$         
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 2023 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 3,666,847$          -$                   3,666,847$     
Contributions 274,101               25,092           299,193          
Noncash Exchange of Services 231,411               -                     231,411          
Gain (Loss) on Investment (1,032)                  2,266             1,234              
Miscellaneous Income 30,553                 -                     30,553            

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,201,880            27,358           4,229,238       

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 21,645                 (21,645)          -                      

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,223,525            5,713             4,229,238       

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,803,895            -                     2,803,895       
Home-Based 980,086               -                     980,086          
ImPACT 498,288               -                     498,288          

Total Program Services 4,282,269            -                     4,282,269       

Support Services

Property Management 1,257                   -                     1,257              
Management and General 538,054               -                     538,054          
Fundraising 97,895                 -                     97,895            

Total Support Services 637,206               -                     637,206          

Total Expenses 4,919,475            -                     4,919,475       

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (695,950)              5,713             (690,237)         

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,729,571            104,447         1,834,018       

Net Assets, End of Year 1,033,621$          110,160$       1,143,781$      
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 Without Donor 

Restrictions 
 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 2022 

REVENUE, GAINS AND SUPPORT
Contracts and Grants 3,924,889$          110,575$       4,035,464$     
Contributions 558,502               -                     558,502          
Noncash Exchange of Services 217,836               -                     217,836          
Gain (Loss) on Investment 6,968                   (1,134)            5,834              
Miscellaneous Income 22,890                 -                     22,890            

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,731,085            109,441         4,840,526       

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 109,795               (109,795)        -                      

Total Revenue, Gains and Support 4,840,880            (354)               4,840,526       

EXPENSES
Program Services

Preschool 2,557,620            -                     2,557,620       
Home-Based 1,016,352            -                     1,016,352       
ImPACT 304,734               -                     304,734          

Total Program Services 3,878,706            -                     3,878,706       

Support Services

Property Management 4,229                   -                     4,229              
Management and General 499,013               -                     499,013          
Fundraising 111,669               -                     111,669          

Total Support Services 614,911               -                     614,911          

Total Expenses 4,493,617            -                     4,493,617       

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 347,263               (354)               346,909          

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 1,369,742            104,801         1,474,543       
 Restatement, (Note 14 ) 12,566                 -                     12,566            
Net Assets, Beginning of Year, As Restated 1,382,308            104,801         1,487,109       
Net Assets, End of Year 1,729,571$          104,447$       1,834,018$      
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management and 

General  Fundraising  Total 2023 
Expenses

Salaries 1,845,242$            632,545$               349,203$           -$                           270,031$               22,822$             3,119,843$        
Payroll Taxes 148,604                 83,292                   37,482               -                             33,632                   2,638                 305,648             
Employee Benefits 143,688                 57,086                   24,525               -                             20,501                   600                    246,400             

Total Personnel 2,137,534              772,923                 411,210             -                             324,164                 26,060               3,671,891          

In-kind Rent 192,696                 21,973                   16,742               -                             -                             -                         231,411             
Building and Occupancy 145,663                 37,167                   13,049               -                             119,387                 -                         315,266             
Supplies 127,620                 25,550                   8,962                 -                             6,646                     2,011                 170,789             
Family Support 13,405                   33,693                   18,060               -                             -                             -                         65,158               
Professional Services 17,825                   888                        135                    -                             44,498                   4,638                 67,984               
Travel 45,946                   20,857                   18,638               -                             503                        22                      85,966               
Miscellaneous 7,312                     30,107                   3,523                 -                             12,013                   30,935               83,890               
Insurance 48,767                   14,988                   2,593                 -                             6,747                     -                         73,095               
Repairs and Maintenance 13,843                   -                             126                    -                             4,245                     -                         18,214               
Education and Training 6,896                     19,282                   2,222                 -                             868                        495                    29,763               
Printing and Publishing 5,280                     1,217                     -                         -                             1,228                     -                         7,725                 
Subscriptions and Publications 874                        159                        478                    -                             14,125                   31,545               47,181               
Equipment Rental 2,327                     -                             -                         -                             1,914                     -                         4,241                 
Postage and Shipping 1,489                     382                        165                    -                             807                        2,189                 5,032                 

Total Other Expenses 629,943                 206,263                 84,693               -                             212,981                 71,835               1,205,715          

Depreciation 32,513                   -                             2,385                 1,257                     -                             -                         36,155               
Interest 3,905                     900                        -                         -                             909                        -                         5,714                 

Total Expenses 2,803,895$            980,086$               498,288$           1,257$                   538,054$               97,895$             4,919,475$        

Program Services Support Services
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 Preschool  Home-Based  ImPACT 
 Property 

Management 
 Management and 

General  Fundraising  Total 2022 
Expenses

Salaries 1,687,491$            648,804$               197,966$           -$                           303,840$               41,160$             2,879,261$        
Payroll Taxes 143,858                 85,678                   22,505               -                             29,655                   4,044                 285,740             
Employee Benefits 166,426                 68,916                   19,699               -                             53,143                   7,239                 315,423             

Total Personnel 1,997,775              803,398                 240,170             -                             386,638                 52,443               3,480,424          

In-kind Rent 169,871                 19,371                   14,759               -                             13,835                   -                         217,836             
Building and Occupancy 129,128                 30,690                   6,367                 -                             10,283                   -                         176,468             
Supplies 60,012                   27,247                   11,722               -                             8,182                     1,062                 108,225             
Professional Services 8,124                     2,833                     90                      -                             61,422                   -                         72,469               
Travel 41,944                   40,566                   4,757                 -                             443                        83                      87,793               
Miscellaneous 31,177                   64,220                   22,216               -                             13,068                   55,734               186,415             
Insurance 54,281                   13,205                   2,512                 -                             -                             -                         69,998               
Repairs and Maintenance 14,227                   -                             -                         -                             800                        -                         15,027               
Education and Training 3,797                     10,799                   1,292                 -                             1,888                     322                    18,098               
Printing and Publication 9,980                     2,637                     499                    -                             -                             1,911                 15,027               
Equipment Rental 2,431                     -                             -                         -                             1,916                     -                         4,347                 
Postage and Shipping 1,637                     385                        50                      -                             42                          -                         2,114                 

Total Other Expenses 526,609                 211,953                 64,264               -                             111,879                 59,112               973,817             

Depreciation 30,721                   -                             -                         4,229                     -                             -                         34,950               
Interest 2,515                     1,001                     300                    -                             496                        114                    4,426                 

Total Expenses 2,557,620$            1,016,352$            304,734$           4,229$                   499,013$               111,669$           4,493,617$        

Program Services Support Services
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2023 2022

Cash Flow From Operating Activities 
Cash Received From Grants and Contracts 3,582,524$            4,191,170$            
Cash Received From Contributions 299,193                 558,502                 
Cash Received From Other Sources 30,553                   22,890                   
Cash Paid to Employees and Suppliers (4,593,291)             (4,256,562)             
Interest Paid (5,714)                    (4,426)                    

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities (686,735)                511,574                 

Cash Flow From Investing Activities 
Purchase of Equipment 37,763                   74,454                   
Purchase of Endowment Investments (12,542)                  (3,971)                    
Sale of Endowment Investments 23                          1,330                     

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities 25,244                   71,813                   

Cash Flow From Financing Activities 
Finance Lease Payments (9,378)                    (10,810)                  

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities (9,378)                    (10,810)                  

Net Increase (Decrease) - Cash and Cash Equivalents (670,869)                572,577                 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 1,349,796              846,544                 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 678,927                 1,419,121              
Less: Donor Restrictions (72,770)                  (69,325)                  

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 606,157$               1,349,796$            

                                                          
Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Net Cash:

Change in Net Assets (690,237)$              346,909$               
Depreciation 36,155                   34,950                   
Net Realized / Unrealized Gains / Losses on Investments (1,234)                    (5,050)                    

Change in:
Accounts Receivable (83,349)                  174,529                 
Other Receivables (974)                       343                        
Prepaid Expenses 9,472                     (7,584)                    
Accounts Payable 27,644                   (32,708)                  
Accrued Expenses 15,788                   19,351                   
Unearned Revenue -                             (19,166)                  

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities (686,735)$              511,574$                
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Organization & Nature of Operations 
 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. (PB&J) was established in 1972 in Albuquerque, NM as a non-profit 
organization focused on helping to create a community of happy and healthy families. The 
organization continues its mission of child abuse prevention through parent education and case 
management services. PB&J continues to innovate and meet the needs of the community that it 
serves through comprehensive programs and services. The following programs and services 
are representative of the work done at PB&J. 
 

Preschool - Center based programs such as NM Pre-K, Children’s Support Group, 
and Parenting Program are delivered at the offices of PB&J. These programs serve 
children and families with education meant to develop new skills for a brighter future. 
 
ImPACT - PB&J delivers services to incarcerated parents and youth through 
programs such as Juvenile Community Corrections and the Metro Detention Center 
program. These programs are intended to reach an underserved population with 
education, life skills, case management, and resource referrals. 
 
Home-Based - PB&J offers home based programs such as Home Visiting, Family 
Infant Toddler Program, and Community Based Prevention, Intervention, and 
Reunification. The home-based programs at PB&J are meant to decrease barriers for 
families and deliver services in the family familiar environment. These programs offer 
parent education, case management, child development, and resource referrals to 
the families that they serve. 

 
Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the Corporation) is a New Mexico not-for-profit 
corporation established in 1994. The Corporation was established to provide management of 
property specially designed for use by client families services to meet their physical, social 
emotional and psychological needs, and to promote their health, security, happiness and 
usefulness. The Corporation is an affiliate of PB&J.  
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
PB&J is financially interrelated through control and economic interest to another not-for-profit 
organization, Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (the “Corporation”). Generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America require the financial statements 
of PB&J and the Corporation to be consolidated (the “Organization”). All significant inter-
organization accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting and accordingly reflect all significant receivables, payables, and other 
liabilities. 
 
Financial Statement Presentation 
 
Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of 
donor or grantor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are 
classified and reported as follows: 
 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-
imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary 
objectives of the Organization. The Organization’s Board of Directors may designate 
assets without assets without restrictions for specific operational purposes from time 
to time. The net assets without donor restrictions represent the investment in 
undesignated assets, investment in designated assets, and amounts invested in 
property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
related debt. 
 
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those 
that will be met by the passages of time or other events specified by the donor. Other 
donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that 
resources be maintained in perpetuity. Gifts of long-lived assets and gifts of cash 
restricted for the acquisition of long-lived assets are recognized as revenue when the 
assets are placed in service. Contributions restricted by donors are reported as 
increases in net assets without donor restriction if the restrictions expire (that is, when 
a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished) in the 
reporting period in which the revenue is recognized. All other donor-restricted 
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions, 
depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets 
with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assts without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Organization considers all short-term highly 
liquid instruments to be cash equivalents provided they are both readily convertible to cash and 
had an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable is stated at face value. Management uses historical experience applied to 
an aging of accounts. Accounts receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible, when all 
efforts result in non-collection. No interest is charged on late receivables. Receivables are 
considered past due if the balance is outstanding for more than 90 days. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
 
An allowance for doubtful accounts has not been provided as management believes that all 
receivables are fully collectible. 
 
Pledges Receivable  
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the Organization that 
is, in substance, unconditional and legally enforceable. If a donor states an intent to give rather 
than a promise to give, contributions are recorded in the year payment is received. 
Contributions that are restricted by donor are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets if 
the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized. Pledges 
receivable were $0 and $0 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The Organization’s financial instruments consist of accounts receivable and accounts payable. It 
is management’s opinion that the Organization is not exposed to significant interest rate or 
credit risks arising from these instruments. Unless otherwise noted, the fair values of these 
financial instruments approximate their carrying value. The maximum potential loss form credit 
risk is equal to the carrying value. The Organization does not require collateral on these 
financial instruments. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost or, if donated, at the estimated fair value on the date 
of donation. Expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1,000 or more are 
capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. 
Replacements, maintenance, and repairs that do not improve or extend the life of the respective 
assets are expensed as incurred. Lives of property and equipment are as follows: 
 

Building and Leasehold Improvements 15-30 years
Furniture and Equipment 3-15 years
Vehicles 3-5 years  

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported 
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Contract Service Revenue 
 
The Organization receives revenue from federal, state and local contracts on a cost 
reimbursement, lump sum and a per-unit-served basis. These contracts and grants are for 
services performed by the Organization and, accordingly have been accounted for as exchange 
type transactions. A majority of these contracts are with various agencies of the State of New 
Mexico and make up a significant portion of the Organization’s revenues.  
 
Contracts and grants revenue are accounted for under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (ASC 606), recognizing revenue when performance obligations under the terms 
of the contracts with customers are satisfied. Prior to the adoption of ASC 606, the Organization 
recognized revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement existed, delivery of products 
had occurred, the sales price was fixed or determinable and collectability was reasonably 
assured. Income from service fees received in advance are deferred and recognized over the 
periods to which the dates and fees relate. 
 
Contributions Revenue 
 
Contributions are generally available for unrestricted use in the related year unless specifically 
restricted by the donor. Unconditional promises to give are recorded at the present value of their 
net realizable value, using risk -free interest rates applicable to the years in which the promises 
are received to discount the amounts. 
 
Grants and contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give that is, in 
substance, unconditional. Grants and contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported 
as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. All grant receivables are considered 
collectable. Grants and other contributions of cash and other assets are reported as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. 
When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction is accomplished, net 
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
The Organization does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) 
contracts with an original expected length of one year or less, or (ii) contracts for which the 
amount of revenue recognized is based on the amount to which the Organization has the right 
to invoice the customer for services performed. 
 
Unearned Revenue 
 
Occasionally, the Organization will receive funding that contains specific conditions that must be 
met by the Organization or the funds will revert back to the grantor or source. Because these 
funds are conditional, the funding is recorded as unearned revenue and deferred until such time 
as the conditions are met. At that point in time, the contract, grant or contribution income is 
recognized. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022 there were unearned revenues of $0 and $0, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Income Taxes  
 
PB&J is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3). The Corporation is exempt under 
Section 501(c)(2), of the Internal Revenue Code. Both organizations have been designated as 
other than private foundations. 
 
The Organization would record a liability for uncertain tax positions when it became probable 
that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Interest would be 
recognized and accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties 
in operating expenses. Expiring statutes of limitations, audits, proposed settlements, changes in 
tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually evaluated. Expiring statutes of limitations, 
audits, proposed settlements, changes in tax law and new authoritative rulings are continually 
evaluated. As of June 30, 2023, and 2022, no liabilities for uncertain tax positions have been 
recorded. The Organization’s tax returns for the fiscal years ended 2020 to 2023, by statute, 
may be subject to normal federal and state examination. 
 
Investments 
 
Endowment funds are invested with the Albuquerque Community Foundation in a pooled fund of 
marketable securities valued at net realizable value, as determined by quoted prices as 
provided by the investment manager, who pools all funds and allocates investments activity to 
each fund accordingly. All investments in debt securities are reported at their fair values in the 
statement of financial position. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net 
assets. Investment income and gains restricted by a donor are reported as increases in 
unrestricted net assets if the restrictions are met (either by passage of time or by use) in the 
reporting period in which the income and gains are recognized. 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation 
 
On November 7, 2007, the Organization established an “Agency Endowment Fund” 
(Agreement) at the Albuquerque Community Foundation (Foundation) with an initial contribution 
of $50,000 from the Organization’s funding sources and another $10,010 from donors of Angie’s 
Legacy. The Agreement and all contributions made to the fund are irrevocable. Under the terms 
of the Agreement, the Foundation may substitute another beneficiary in place of the 
Organization if the Organization ceases to be a qualified charitable organization. The Board of 
Trustees of the Foundation can modify the provisions of the Agreement designating use of the 
endowment if the purposes for which it was created ever become obsolete, incapable of 
fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable purposes of the Foundation. Annual distributions 
are calculated in accordance with the Foundation’s distribution policy and can be used by the 
Organization or can be added to the principal of the endowment. 
 



182 of 198

PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, AND 2022 
 

14 
 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation (Continued) 
 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-605 - Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit 
Organization or Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Contributions for Others, establishes 
standards for transactions in which a donor transfers assets to a not-for-profit organization or 
charitable trust that accepts the contribution with the stipulation that the recipient organization 
use those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both, on behalf of the beneficiary 
that is specified by the donor. ASC 958-605 specifically requires a not-for-profit organization that 
establishes a fund at a community foundation with its own funds and specifies itself as the 
beneficiary of that fund and grants the community foundation unilateral variance power must 
account for the transfer of such assets as an asset on its financial statements. Accordingly, the 
Organization has recognized the transfer to the Foundation of the $50,000 as an asset called 
“permanent endowment”, included with other assets in the statements of financial position. The 
donations to Angie’s Legacy of $10,010 were given to the Organization with the intent that the 
Organization would be the beneficiary of any earnings. Variance power was not explicitly 
granted by the original donors to the community foundation, and so these funds are also 
considered an asset of the Organization. 
 
Endowment Classification 
 
The State of New Mexico passed House Bill 454, effective July 1, 2009, requiring New Mexico 
organizations with endowments to adhere to the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA). The law states that a not-for-profit organization that is subject to 
an enacted version of the UPMIFA shall classify a portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund 
of perpetual duration as permanently restricted net assets. The amount classified as 
permanently restricted shall be either a) the amount of the fund that must be retained 
permanently in accordance with explicit donor stipulations or b) the amount of the fund that, in 
the absence of explicit donor stipulations, the Organization's governing board determines must 
be retained permanently consistent with the relevant law. 
 
The original donors of the endowment funds did not explicitly state that the funds were to remain 
in perpetuity, and the Organization’s board of directors interpreted New Mexico’s UPMIFA law 
and do not conclude that the State of New Mexico requires endowment funds to remain in 
perpetuity in lieu of explicit donor stipulations. Accordingly, the Organization has classified the 
donor endowment funds as temporarily restricted, until the funds are used for their intended 
purpose, and have included the endowment with other long-term assets in the statements of 
financial position. 
 
Donated Services and Materials  
 
The Organization recognizes donated services that require specialized skills and are provided 
by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if not provided 
by donation. Such donations are reported at their estimated fair market value at the date of the 
donation as unrestricted support. Donated materials are recorded at the fair market value of the 
materials on the date of donation. 
 



183 of 198

PB&J FAMILY SERVICES, INC. AND AFFILIATE 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, AND 2022 
 

15 
 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Functional Expense Allocations 
 
Expenses are charged directly to program and supporting services based on specific 
identification, when possible. Costs benefiting more than one function are allocated based on 
measures such as management’s estimates of time spent, square footage, etc. Significant 
expenses that are at least partially allocated include occupancy, supplies, travel, miscellaneous, 
and insurance. The allocation method for these costs is based on time and effort. 
 
Operating Cycle   
 
The majority of the Organization’s income is derived from state and federal contracts and 
grants. The lengths of the contracts vary, but they are generally one year or less. 
 
NOTE 2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
As of June 30, 2023, and 2022, the carrying amount of the Organization’s cash was $678,927 
and $1,419,121, respectively, which includes $300 cash on hand for both years.  
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and investments. The Organization maintains its available cash in a 
long-established financial institution. At times during the year, the Organization’s cash deposits 
may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance limits. The accounts were 
insured up to $250,000 under FDIC coverage per customer through June 30, 2023 and 2022. 
The Organization’s cash balances exceeded FDIC limits as follows at June 30,: 
 

Institution 2023 2022
Wells Fargo  $      678,627  $   1,418,821 
Petty Cash 300                300                

Total Reconciled Cash Balances 678,927$       1,419,121$    

                                          
Bank Balance 693,559$       1,508,628$    
Less: Insured by FDIC (250,000)        (250,000)        

Uncollateralized and Uninsured Balances 443,559$       1,258,628$     
 
The Organization’s cash balances included donor restricted cash of $78,331 and $69,325 at 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS 
 
Investment Foundation 
 
The Albuquerque Community Foundation (ACF) manages the investments for the Organization. 
ACF creates and manages a pooled investment fund consisting of equity, U.S. Government 
Securities, bond mutual funds and cash.  
 

 Target %  Range % 

Total Equity 50% 40 - 60%
Total Fixed Income / Cash 12% 2 - 22%
Total Real Estate 10% 5 - 15%
Total Real Assets 5% 0 - 15%
Total Multi-Strategy 10% 0 - 20%
Total Private Equity 13% 3 - 23%

Total 100% 100%  
 

The Organization is subject to investment credit risk. Investment credit risk is the risk that an 
issuer or other counter party to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
 
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, provides the framework for measuring fair value. 
That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority 
to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy 
under FASB ASC 820 are described as follows: 
 
Basis of Fair Value Measurement 
 

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that Organization has the ability to 
access. 
 
Level 2 - Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active or financial 
instruments without quoted market prices, but for which all significant inputs are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the 
fair value measurement. 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Assets

Public Equity  53,610$        -$                   $                 -  $       53,610 
Private Equity  -                    -                              13,918           13,918 
Fixed Income 14,454          -                                        -           14,454 
Real Assets 5,616            -                                        -             5,616 
Real Estate -                    -                              18,733           18,733 
Multi-Strategy  -                    -                              18,009           18,009 
Cash Equivalents 293               -                    -                    293               
Other -                    -                    1,000            1,000            

Total Investments at 

Fair Market Value  $       73,973  $                 -  $       51,660  $     125,633 
 

 
Investments, at fair value, consist of the following as of June 30, 2022: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Assets
Public Equity  48,498$        -$                   $                 -  $       48,498 
Private Equity  -                    -                              13,411           13,411 
Fixed Income 11,632          -                                        -           11,632 
Real Assets 5,687            -                                        -             5,687 
Real Estate -                    -                              20,961           20,961 
Multi-Strategy  -                    -                              16,314           16,314 
Cash Equivalents 578               -                                        -                578 
Other -                    -                    1,000                        1,000 

Total Investments at 

Fair Market Value  $       66,395  $                 -  $       51,686  $     118,081  
 
The Organization’s other investments consists of the following at June 30, 
 

Type 2023 2022
Cemetary Plot  $       1,000  $       1,000 
Interest in Oil Wells 25,000         25,000 
Less: Depletion in Oil Wells (25,000)      (25,000)      

Total Other Investments 1,000$       1,000$        
 
There was no depletion expense for the years ended June 30, 2023, and 2022. The carrying 
value of investments above approximates fair value. 
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2022 Additions Deletions Transfer

 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Property and Equipment Not Being

Depreciated:
Land 67,306$          -$                    -$                    -$                    67,306$        

Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306            -                      -                      -                      67,306          

Property and Equipment Being

 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 752,443          4,974              -                      -                      757,417        

Furniture and Equipment 675,800          32,789            -                      (56,326)           652,263        

Vehicles 459,360          -                      -                      -                      459,360        

Total Property and Equipment 

Being Depreciated 1,887,603       37,763            -                      (56,326)           1,869,040     

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,765,513)      (36,155)           -                      17,836            (1,783,832)    

Property and Equipment, Net 189,396$        1,608$            -$                    (38,490)$         152,514$      

 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30: 

 
 Balance at 

7/1/2021 Additions Deletions
 Balance at 
6/30/2022 

Property and Equipment Not Being

Depreciated:
Land 67,306$          -$                    -$                    67,306$          

Total Property and Equipment 

Not Being Depreciated 67,306            -                      -                      67,306            

Property and Equipment Being

 Depreciated:

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 750,133          2,310              -                      752,443          

Furniture and Equipment 603,656          72,144            -                      675,800          

Vehicles 459,360          -                      -                      459,360          

Total Property and Equipment 

Being Depreciated 1,813,149       74,454            -                      1,887,603       

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,730,563)      (34,950)           -                      (1,765,513)      

Property and Equipment, Net 149,892$        39,504$          -$                    189,396$        
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s equipment lease 
previously presented as property and equipment in the amount of $56,326 has been reclassified 
as lease right-to-use asset for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Vans with net book values in the amount of $0 as of June 30, 2023, and 2022, are restricted as 
to their use as designated by granting agencies under government contracts and are included in 
total vehicle cost. Included in the original vehicles cost above are in-kind donations from the 
New Mexico State Highway and Transportation Department which represents 80% of the cost of 
the vans, or $126,234. 
 
Depreciation expense was $36,155 and $34,950 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.  
 
NOTE 5. LEASE RIGHT-TO-USE ASSETS 
 
Lease Right-to-Use Assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2022 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease:
Finance Lease - Equipment 56,326$            -$                      -$                      56,326$            

Total Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease 56,326              -                        -                        56,326              

Less: Accumulated Amortization for:

Finance Lease - Equipment (6,571)               (11,265)             -                        (17,836)             

Total Accumulated Amortization (6,571)               (11,265)             -                        (17,836)             

Right of Use Assets, Finance Lease, Net 49,755$            (11,265)$           -$                      38,490$            

 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s equipment 
previously presented as property and equipment in the amount of $56,326 has been reclassified 
as lease right-to-use asset for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Amortization expense was $11,265 and $6,571, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, and is included with depreciation expense in the statement of functional expenses. 
 
NOTE 6. RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
PB&J maintains a qualified 403(b) retirement plan. Eligible employees may defer a portion of 
their salary under this plan. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the PB&J contributes a 
discretionary match of salaries for all eligible employees. The plan has no age requirement and 
employees may participate immediately. Employer matching is 100% vested after two years of 
service. The total employer contributions made for the years ended June 30, 2023, and June 
30, 2022, was $13,111 and $26,058, respectively, with no additional discretionary contributions 
for either year. 
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NOTE 7. LEASE LIABILITY 
 
Finance Leases 
 
As a result of the implementation of FASB 2016-02, Leases, the Organization’s lease previously 
presented as a capital lease in the amount of $551,351 has been reclassified as a finance lease 
liability for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 

 Balance at 
7/1/2022 Additions Deletions

 Balance at 
6/30/2023 

 Due Within 
One Year 

Finance Lease Liability 51,351$            -$                      (9,378)$             41,973$            10,567$            

51,351$            -$                      (9,378)$             41,973$            10,567$            

 
The Organization leases equipment under a finance lease arrangement. There is no escalation 
clause for the equipment lease. There are no variable payments that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. There are no residual value guarantees that are not included in the 
lease liability calculation. The Organization used interest rate of 12.00% stated in the lease 
agreement to calculate the present value of the equipment. 
 
The future payment obligations on the lease is as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
June 30, Principal Interest Total 

2024 10,567$            4,468$              15,035$            
2025 11,907              3,128                15,035              
2026 13,418              1,618                15,036              
2027 6,081                184                   6,265                
2028 -                    -                    -                    

Total 41,973$            9,398$              51,371$             
 

NOTE 8. NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS – BOARD DESIGNATED 
 
Board designated net assets include an endowment established in 2007 for investment 
purposes. The balance in the endowment as of June 30, 2023, and 2022 was $87,243 and 
$81,957, respectively. 
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NOTE 9. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted for the following purposes or periods as of June 
30: 
 

 2023  2022 
Subject to expenditure for specified purpose:

ImPACT Program 31,605$                $           34,300 
Angie's Legacy - Endowment 37,390                 35,124              
Wilderness Program 6,827                   6,825                
Holiday Wish 3,440                   1,800                
Kerri's Fund 937                      937                   
Keeping the Lights on Program 2,235                   2,235                
ABQ SV Preschool 19,582                 15,082              
Bernalillo Preschool 1,478                   1,478                
SE Heights Preschool 6,666                   6,666                

Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 110,160$             104,447$          

 
 
NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
Since June 30, 2009, the Organization has followed the Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies with regard to investing and spending. The Albuquerque Community Foundation’s 
policies stipulate that annual distributions will be calculated (not to exceed 5% of the value of 
the endowment) for PB&J’s spending. However, PB&J can make the determination to leave any 
annual distributions in the endowment to continue to grow. As of June 30, 2023, PB&J has not 
taken an annual distribution from the endowment funds. If funds were to be taken as a 
distribution, the Board of Directors would make the recommendation as to the purpose of the 
funds to be spent. 
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NOTE 10. ENDOWMENT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in endowment net assets are as follows: 
 

 Without Donor 
Restrictions 

 With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2021 84,602$               36,258$            120,860$          

Investment Income, net of expenses 890                      381                   1,271                
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) (3,535)                  (1,515)               (5,050)               

Change in Endowment Net Assets (2,645)                  (1,134)               (3,779)               

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2022 81,957$               35,124$            117,081$          

Investment Income, net of expenses 92                        40                     132                   
Net Appreciation (Realized and Unrealized) 5,194                   2,226                7,420                

Change in Endowment Net Assets 5,286                   2,266                7,552                

Endowment Net Assets, June 30, 2023 87,243$               37,390$            124,633$          

 
NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES 
 
PB&J has two primary locations. A portion of the main headquarters is leased from the County 
of Bernalillo with a portion owned by PB&J. The lease, dated July 1, 2005, is for a term of 5 
years with options to renew the lease for up to an additional 25 years. In July 2010, the first 
option to renew for the first five-year term was approved. In July 2015, the second option to 
renew for an additional five-year term was approved. The terms of the lease call for annual rent 
of $83,502. The rent is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J for disabled 
and indigent residents of Bernalillo County. Any shortfall in provided services is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J to the County of Bernalillo. 
 
PB&J opened a location in the Southeast Heights area of Albuquerque, NM in September 2011 
and entered into a facility agreement with Bernalillo County. The lease is for a term of 5 years, 
with one additional five-year option which was renewed in 2017. The annual rent is $78,750, 
and is to be paid with cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any short fall is to be paid in 
cash by PB&J. In October 2022, the Organization renewed this lease for an initial term of 25 
years. The initial annual payment is $97,500 and increases by 3% annually on the anniversary 
date of the lease.  
 
PB&J rents facilities from the Town of Bernalillo, NM under a lease that began in July 2014. The 
lease is for a term of 5 years. A new one-year lease for additional space began on July 1, 2023. 
A part of the consideration for these arrangements is the provision of space in exchange for the 
provision of services at the facilities. The annual rent on the new lease is $69,492, and is to be 
paid with $17,364 in cash and the remainder in cash equivalent services provided by PB&J. Any 
short fall in services provided by PB&J is to be paid in cash. 
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NOTE 11. NONCASH EXCHANGE OF SERVICES (CONTINUED) 
 
For the years ending June 30, 2023, and 2022, PB&J received and recognized $231,411 and 
$217,836, respectively, in in-kind rent in exchange for services. The services provided to the 
County of Bernalillo and the Town of Bernalillo were sufficient to cover the required annual 
services of the agreements. 
 
Future minimum rents for all noncash exchange of services are as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2024 235,324$     
2025 186,187       
2026 189,267       
2027 192,440       
2028 195,708       

Thereafter 3,536,880    

Total 4,535,806$   
 

NOTE 12. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE 
 
PB&J has contracts with various State and Federal agencies. Significant revenues of PB&J 
include funding from New Mexico Children Youth and Families Department (CYFD) and 
Medicaid. Revenues from these sources were approximately 58% and 43% for the years ended 
June 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 
 
NOTE 13. AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY 
 
The following table reflects the Organization’s financial assets reduced by amounts not available 
for general use within one year of that date because of donor-imposed restrictions or internal 
designations at June 30,: 
 

2023 2022
Cash and Cash Equivalents 678,927$       1,419,121$    
Receivables 433,916         349,593         

Subtotal 1,112,843      1,768,714      
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions (Less Endowment) (72,770)          (69,323)          

Financial Assets Available to Meet Cash Needs for
General Expenditures Within One Year 1,040,073$    1,699,391$     

 
The available resources would cover more than three months of expenditures even if no 
revenue was received during that time period. The majority of the Organization’s revenues 
come from contracts with the State of New Mexico, which in some cases pass through from the 
federal government. 
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NOTE 14. RESTATEMENT 
 
During year ended June 30, 2022, net assets were restated as follows: 
 

 The Organization restated net assets for the year ended June 30, 2021 to recognize 
revenue related to grants from prior periods in the amount of $14,166. 

 
 The Organization also restated net assets for the year ended June 30, 2021 to remove 

the improper accrual of a accounts receivable in the amount of $1,600. 
 
The net restatement to the Organization’s net assets is an increase of $12,566 to net assets at 
June 30, 2022. 
 
NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Management evaluated all activity through April 30, 2024, the date the financial statements 
were available to be issued. There are no other matters identified for recognition in the financial 
statements at June 30, 2023. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
PB&J Family Services, Inc. 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated 
financial statements of PB&J Family Services, Inc. (a nonprofit organization) and its affiliate 
Peanut Butter & Jelly, Inc. Property Corporation (a corporation), collectively referred to as the 
Organization, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 30, 2024. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion of the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the Organization’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, nor detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.   
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 

 
TKM, LLC 

Auditors | Advisors | CPAs 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 
April 30, 2024 
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